Capstone Project: Food Insecurity amongst Immigration-Impacted Youth

Presented by, Carmen Zambrano Torres Claudia Haro-Contreras Daniel Lopez Salas

> Advisor, Dr. Cecilia Ayón

School of Public Policy University of California, Riverside

Abstract

Systematic inequalities create material hardship among vulnerable communities further impacting the community's food security and creating everlasting health and academic consequences. Recent studies have outlined the significant impact of food insecurity on college students and immigrant populations. Building on existing work, this capstone looks at the relationship between food insecurity among immigration-impacted students in the University of California (UC) system. Based on a quantitative survey (*N*=1,861) and qualitative interviews (*N*=63) with Latina, Latino, and Latinx undergraduate students who are undocumented, U.S. citizens with undocumented parents, and legal status, we examine the relationship between food insecurity, academic performance, and mental health outcomes. We identified significant findings through multivariate linear regression models and constructivist grounded theory. Our results demonstrate that immigration-impacted students face food insecurity, mental health symptomatology, and academic hardships despite accessing campus resources. These findings point to the need for urgent long-term sustainable federal, state, and university policy changes. Findings also stress the need to examine food insecurity among immigration-impacted students across other institutions which may have fewer resources.

Table of Contents

Abstract	1
Table of Contents	2
Background	4
Food Insecurity in the United States	5
Measuring Food Insecurity: Economic and Material Hardships	5
Material Hardship among Immigrant Communities	6
Barriers to Social Safety Nets	6
Immigration-Impacted College Students	7
Food Insecurity among immigration-impacted college students	7
Consequences of food insecurity among immigration impacted college students	7
Barriers to Resources	8
Purpose of the Study	9
Methods	9
Data and Procedures	9
Survey Sample	10
Interview Sample	10
Survey Measures	10
Dependent variables	10
Independent variables	11
Moderators	11
Covariates	11
Quantitative Data Analysis	11
Qualitative Data Analysis	11
Quantitative Results	12
Qualitative Results	13
Food Insecurity Pipeline	14
Normalizing Food Insecurity	15
Food Insecurity and Survival Strategies	16
Individual Survival Strategies	16
Financial hypervigilance	16
Food opportunity hypervigilance	17
Seeking additional income opportunities	17
Resources on Campus	18
Pantries	18
UC garden	19
Cash or gift card assistance	19
Family and Communal Resources	20
Family support system	20

Community food pantry	20
CalFresh	20
Legal Vulnerability	21
Food Insecurity and Student Wellbeing	22
Food Insecurity and Academic Achievement	23
Discussion	24
Quantitative Discussion	24
Qualitative Discussion	26
Limitations	28
Implications for Policy, Practice, and Research	28
Conclusion	31
References	32
Appendices	48

In 2020, 28.7% of Latinx in California (CA) reported living in poverty (Guzman, 2020; Deloitte et al., 2020). The economic upbringing experienced by Latinx immigrant children impacts their childhood as they become adults and make their way to universities. Such economic hardships may create material hardships. Material hardship is a measure of poverty that includes five dimensions (Gelatt et al., 2019). In our capstone, we will discuss one dimension of food insecurity. According to Coleman-Jensen et al. (2022), food security occurs when individuals have access to enough food for a healthy and nourished life. Food security statistics are often measured using survey data where respondents identify their ability to meet food needs. In the United States (US) Current Population Survey Food Security Supplement data estimated 13.5 million households were food insecure at least once in 2021 (Coleman-Jensen et al., 2022). Moreover, structural inequities like exclusionary policies prevent immigrant households from accessing federal resources (Perreira & Pedroza, 2019; Pineau et al., 2021) further creating stigma, shame, (Distel et al., 2019) and fear when attempting to address food insecurity (Bernstein et al., 2020). Therefore, this may discourage children of immigrants from seeking resources to meet their basic needs as adults. Latinx immigrant households share a similar stigma and shame around mental health support (Mendoza et al., 2015). In a college-campus setting, resources provided to meet basic needs such as food resources and mental health resources, have been developed to support students' needs (El Zein et al., 2018). Given this understanding of Latinx immigrant households, our study has implications for understanding the experience of Latinx immigration-impacted college students and the intersectionality of food insecurity, mental health outcomes, and further academic implications.

The purpose of this mixed-methods study is to understand the experience of food insecurity, its implications for immigrant communities, and the intersections of mental health and academic outcomes for Latinx students. More specifically, how exclusionary immigration policies subject immigration-impacted youth to material hardships such as food insecurity; and how food insecurity is associated with mental health and academic outcomes. Our quantitative analysis aims to examine the differences in food insecurity between students (i.e., undocumented students and U.S. citizen-born students with undocumented parents); the relationship between food insecurity, mental health, and academic outcomes; and if access to resources on campus moderates the relationship between food insecurity and outcomes. Our qualitative study attempted to understand how immigration-impacted youth experience food insecurity in their day-to-day lives and the resources youth access to address food insecurity. We hypothesized that undocumented youth experience higher levels of food insecurity than their U.S. citizen-born counterparts due to their limited economic resources. Finally, this capstone provides institutions of higher education with better insight into how immigration policy profoundly impacts the lived experience of immigration-impacted youth and creates material hardships like food insecurity.

Background

In the United States, 13.5 million households are food insecure (Coleman-Jensen et al., 2022). According to Nourish California & the California Immigrant Policy Center (2022), California, home to 2.3 million undocumented immigrants, 45% of undocumented individuals are impacted by food insecurity. Social safety nets have been created for food-insecure families such as food assistance programs. Lamentably safety net policies carry barriers and exclusions for immigrant and mixed-status households. Systemic inequities have created limited economic opportunities for immigrant families, forcing immigrant households in and out of material hardships (Altman et al., 2020). Food insecurity is a dimension of material hardship that impacts individual well-being. This analysis of literature explores the relationship between food

insecurity, immigrant households, immigration-impacted students in higher education, and social safety net policies. Moreover, social safety net policies that are intended to support food-insecure households are called into question regarding their deleterious effects on mixed-status households.

Defining Food Insecurity

Coleman-Jensen et al. (2022) defined food security as always having access to enough nutritionally adequate and safe food, obtained in a socially acceptable manner without resorting to emergency food, scavenging, or stealing. More specifically, food insecurity is the limited or uncertain availability of nutritionally adequate and safe foods, or the limited or uncertain ability to acquire acceptable foods in socially acceptable ways (Anderson, 1990). Food insecurity scholars have distinguished between low and very low food security where low food security includes those with reduced quality, variability & desired diet (Coleman-Jensen et al., 2022). In contrast, very low food security is experienced when individuals report disrupted eating patterns primarily associated with feelings of hunger which is the uneasy or painful sensation caused by a lack of food (Broton & Goldrick-Rab, 2017; Cook & Frank, 2018). Over 10% of the US population, or 13.5 million households, were food insecure in 2021 (Coleman-Jensen et al., 2022). Among these, 3.8% of food-insecure households were identified as having very low food security, the most severe form of food insecurity (Coleman-Jensen et al., 2022).

Food Insecurity in the United States

Food insecurity disproportionately impacts populations that are already underserved (Cady, 2014; Watson et al., 2017). Populations such as African Americans and Latinx; persons with disabilities; persons who identify as LGBTOIA+; immigrants; and women, particularly single women with children have higher percentages of food insecurity (Cady, 2014; Watson et al., 2017). For example, 18% of Latinx households reported very low food insecurity, this is higher than the national average of 3.8% (Coleman-Jensen et al., 2022). Among households with children, 22.7% of African Americans reported food insecurity followed by Hispanics at 18% and Whites at 7.9% (Coleman-Jensen et al., 2022). Moreover, food insecurity leads to devastating short and long-term outcomes. Health experts have linked food insecurity with poor brain and body development and behavioral problems in children (Huang, J. et al., 2010; RND, 2020). For adults, food insecurity has been associated with poor mental health and poor sleep outcomes (Ding M, et al., 2015). Meanwhile, for seniors food insecurity has been correlated with depression (Laraia, BA et al., 2009). Food insecurity has also been recognized to lead to various health conditions including diabetes, obesity, heart disease, and hypertension (Reaven, G., 1998; HHS; Seligman et al., 2010). Baneriee et al. (2021) examines the public health problem of food insecurity in relationship with mortality. Their study found higher risk factors among food-insecure individuals leading to death. The American Heart Association has also associated food insecurity with cardiovascular disease mortality (Sun et al., 2020). As such, understanding food insecurity requires an in-depth analysis of living conditions for vulnerable communities.

Measuring Food Insecurity: Economic and Material Hardships

Since food insecurity is a household resource constraint it is considered a poverty-related condition (Cook and Frank, 2008). Poverty refers to being limited in income and in a position where the household or individual cannot meet their basic needs (Iceland and Bauman, 2007). Scholars have debated the best way to measure poverty, through economic or material hardship measures. Economic hardship is measured solely by considering the limited income of the household (Bellair et al., 2018). Although studies have shown the relationship between income and food insecurity, many non-poor households are food insecure as well (Gundersen et al.,

2011). Material hardship measures poverty more closely, such as exploring the dimensions of poverty and considering the well-being of the individual experiencing poverty (Iceland & Bauman, 2007). Such dimensions may include trouble paying household rent and bills, food insecurity, and medical bills and support (Gelatt et al., 2019). Nevertheless, income-based poverty measures may not fully illustrate households that may be experiencing a dimension of material hardship, such as food insecurity. This is because income measures cannot fully consider the needs of the unique characteristics of households such as single head of households or even immigration status (Leitz, 2018; Gelatt et al., 2019).

Material Hardship among Immigrant Communities

For immigrant communities, it is essential to explore the household characteristics such as the resources available to the households and state characteristics that may influence food insecurity (Leitz, 2018). Household characteristics may include immigration status, income, and job opportunities (Leitz, 2018). Whereas, state characteristics include state wages (Leitz, 2018), and legal violence (Gelatt et al., 2019). However, studies on migration, legal status, and material hardship are limited (Altman et al., 2020). Nevertheless, studies demonstrate the tremendous impact low wages and job opportunities will have on immigrant communities. Especially since, studies have shown that Mexican immigrants who lack documentation experience a higher risk of violations of labor rights and lower wages (Massey & Gentsch, 2018). Hall et al. (2010) revealed a 17% wage gap between Mexican undocumented men when compared to their documented counterparts. Additionally, a study that analyzed data from the National Agricultural Workers Survey found that undocumented migrants were more likely to experience lower wages when compared to their documented counterparts (Pena, 2010). Furthermore, Bernhardt et al. (2013) studied low-wage workers and found that low-wage labor occupations tend to have more prevalent violations of employment and labor laws. These studies conclude that immigration status predicts low wages (Massey and Gentsch, 2018), thus, risks of economic hardship among immigrant households. Moreover, as immigrant households experience lower wages, social safety nets are essential for the prevention of food insecurity among immigrant households.

Previous research has denoted that immigration eligibility rules excluding undocumented communities from economic opportunities and benefits impact everyone in their family (Enriquez, 2015). Despite the development of social safety net policies and programs to alleviate food-insecure families, its eligibility requirements carry exclusions for immigrant communities. Immigrant households may be excluded from accessing food assistance programs due to legal status (Perreira & Pedroza, 2019). These exclusions not only impact undocumented immigrants but U.S. citizen children with undocumented parents, known as mixed-status families (Guelespe et al., 2023). In 2001, it was estimated that 1 in 10 families with children belong to a mixed-status family (Fix and Zimmerman, 2001). More recently, the number of mixed-status households is estimated at over 22 million (Guelespe et al., 2023). Therefore, U.S. citizen children with undocumented parents share in the risks associated with legal status (Enriquez, 2015). Studies have confirmed that policies indeed impact the long-term health of U.S. citizen children of undocumented parents (Delva et al., 2013; Vargas & Ybarra, 2017). Moreover, as children of mixed-status families enter adulthood they are most likely to have lower wages and higher material hardships (Guelespe et al., 2023). These studies provide evidence of the influence of immigration status on material hardship, and thus, food insecurity.

Barriers to Social Safety Nets

Examining food insecurity as a material hardship also requires an understanding of the federal immigration climate. This is because it varies from inclusionary to outright hostile

towards immigrant communities. Federal efforts to support food programs like Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) have proven to help low-income families (Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 2022). Despite the well-known benefits of receiving SNAP its eligibility criteria have excluded many based on their immigration status. In addition to eligibility barriers, an increased and perceived enforcement of anti-immigrant policy and rhetoric curtail economic security for millions of immigrant households nationwide (Miller et al., 2022). This became evident through the decline in enrollment in safety net services, like SNAP, after the 2016 leaked proposal of the broader implementation of public charge (Miller et al., 2022). The Trump administration's proposal aimed to expand the scope and enforcement of public charges. Consequently, leading many immigrant households fear that their future opportunities for citizenship or legal permanent residency could be jeopardized if they accessed public services (Barofsky, 2020).

Immigration-Impacted College Students

Immigration-impacted youth include those who are immigrants themselves or have immigrant parents. Immigration-impacted youth vary in immigration status protections. For immigration-impacted college students, maybe undocumented college students, undocumented students with work authorization, or U.S. citizen children with undocumented parents, also known as students within mixed-status families. For immigration-impacted youth, themselves along with their family members live in a state of "liminal legality" that makes their immigration status ambiguous (Suarez-Orozco, 2011) and critically, their access to resources. Some undocumented college-aged adults, and immigration-impacted youth, have access to the Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals (DACA) Program. DACA is an administrative protection that provides temporary access to employment authorization and protection from deportation (UC Berkeley, 2022). While DACA beneficiaries are considered unauthorized as they do not hold citizenship, long-term residency visas, or work permits (Suarez-Orozco, 2011), these protections reduce the legal vulnerability experienced by recipients who report better employment opportunities (Pope, 2016), reduced poverty (Amuedo- Dorantes & Antman, 2016), and increased graduation rates (Kuka et al., 2020).

Food Insecurity among immigration-impacted college students

In the University of California (UC) and California State University (CSU) system, undocumented students with no status reported experiencing food insecurity at 66% while those with DACA at 57% (Enriquez et al., 2020). Food insecurity was more prevalent among students of color, first-generation, and students from vulnerable communities (Dubick et al., 2016). According to the University of California, 57% of Latinx college students reported food insecurity compared to only 35% of their white counterparts (University of California, Office of the President, 2020). Although food insecurity is more prevalent among undergraduate students, graduate students also report high rates. For example, 39% of graduate Latinx students reported food insecurity, whereas only 23% of White students reported experiencing food insecurity (University of California, Office of the President, 2020). For immigration-impacted youth, this sheds light on the many challenges they face.

Consequences of food insecurity among immigration-impacted college students

Food insecurity is consequential to immigration-impacted college students' well-being. According to the World Health Organization (2022), mental health is a state of mental well-being that enables people to cope with stressors or life, realize their abilities, learn well and work well, and contribute to their community. As noted by Marmolejo and colleagues (2022), college students' mental health experience is diminished significantly through the experience of food

insecurity. Food insecure college students are more likely to self-report poorer physical and mental health outcomes such as low caloric intake, lower energy levels, depressive symptoms, irregular sleep patterns, and even suicidal ideation (Watson et al., 2017; Martinez et al., 2020; Payne-Sturges et al., 2018; Goldrick-Rab et al., 2017; Pryor et al., 2016; Becerra &Becerra, 2020). As found by Martinez et al. (2018), up to 83% of students experiencing food insecurity express poorer mental health, as indicated by higher rates of hopelessness, loneliness, overwhelm, and physical exhaustion, among other mental health indicators, compared to their food-secure counterparts. Among undocumented students in the UC and CSU systems, food insecurity was associated with increased symptoms of psychological distress and anxiety, and students' social support did not buffer the effects of food insecurity on their mental health outcomes (Valarde Pierce et al., 2021).

In addition to mental health, college students who experience food insecurity are at risk of poorer academic performance (Camelo et al., 2019). van Woerden et al. (2018) indicate that 41% of students who reported low or very low food security also reported lower Grade Point Average (GPA). Food-insecure undocumented UC and CSU students reported more missed assignments, attended class unprepared or skipped class more frequently (Valadez et al., 2021). Similarly, Mechler and colleagues found that food-insecure students fail classes and drop out at higher rates than their food-secure counterparts (2021). Summarizing statistics also requires an understanding of what is leading students to such academic hardship. Watson et al. (2017) explain that food-insecure students worry about their next meal, absence of energy, and lack of ability to focus on their academics. Moreover, van Woerden et al. (2018) found that if food-insecure students have food stability their GPA would increase by 13%. As such, the food insecure experience impacts the well-being, academic, social, and mental health outcomes (Duran & Nunez, 2021).

Barriers to Resources

College students from underrepresented backgrounds may hesitate to seek help due to fear of stigma and shame (Mechler et al., 2021; Cady 2014). Food insecurity-related stigma is experiencing a feeling of embarrassment or judgment detrimental to a person's self-esteem due to one's perception of being unable to provide for themselves, which also negatively impacts physical and psycho-social health which results in a feeling of compromised social standing and social alienation (Pineau et al., 2021). The culture of stigma, accessibility, and misinformation regarding food services like pantries and SNAP keep many students from directly accessing services. Although 70% of students experiencing food insecurity are aware of food pantries on campus, only 38% indicated actively accessing them (El Zein et al., 2018). Furthermore, for eligible immigration-impacted youth on college campuses, this led to fear and discouragement in applying for safety net services (Anderson, 2019). Many members of mixed-status households report not accessing public service programs such as Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) as they fear the long-term consequences if they are deemed a public charge which would prevent them from adjusting their status (Vargas & Pirog, 2016). These barriers are compounded for immigration-impacted youth who may be systematically excluded from receiving resources due to their status or their family members' precarious status.

In the U.S., immigration can seem like a patchwork of policies as it is no longer the sole domain of the federal government but that of individual states as well (Ramakrishnan & Colbern, 2015). Despite the nuances among state policies, immigrant advocates in California have worked towards developing a progressive and inclusionist state. For immigration-impacted college students, this has meant being eligible to further their education and pursue a career. This work

has led to the development of policies that provide avenues for professional state licenses through State Bill (SB) 1159 and guarantee undocumented students in-state tuition at California's public colleges and universities through Assembly Bill (AB) 540 (Oliverez, 2005; Ramakrishnan & Colbern, 2015). SB-1159 and AB-540 have not only served as a foundation to increase access to higher education among undocumented students but have also provided immigration-impacted students with initial resource accessibility within college and university settings (Oliverez, 2006). As students navigate the resource-rich higher education institutions, immigration-impacted youth must also maneuver various obstacles within their education journey. For immigration-impacted students, this means living within systematic inequalities that have developed spill-over effects affecting their academic experience, along with their well-being (Museus et al., 2015).

Purpose of the Study

The present study is focused on food insecurity among immigration-impacted students. We draw on the socio-ecological framework and material hardship literature to guide the study. According to the socio-ecological framework, the macro environment such as immigration policy and related systemic practices that exclude immigrants will have indirect and direct effects on the well-being of youth (Ayón et al., 2022, Suarez-Orosco, 2011). The ecological framework helps bring light to not only the development outcomes for children of immigrant households but how economic hardships manifest because of these systems. For instance, exclusionary federal immigration policy limits the economic opportunities for immigrants with consequences for their families. Undocumented immigrants experience low wages, workplace exploitation, and limited economic mobility due to limited upward mobility in jobs (Ayón et al., 2013; Bacallao & Smokowski, 2013). These employment constraints have economic consequences such that 40% of immigrant households in California fall below the federal poverty threshold (Nourish California & California Immigration Policy Center, 2022). Furthermore, these economic constraints subject immigrant households to material hardship including food insecurity (Gelatt et al., 2019). At the same time, undocumented and mixed-status families are excluded from accessing safety net resources (Altman et al., 2020) minimizing options for economic reprieve. Despite the relatively supportive socio-ecological environment in the California educational system which provides greater access to higher education, in-state tuition rates, and financial aid (Ayón et al., 2022) immigration-impacted youth, face barriers and restrictions from access to safety net services and jobs that would otherwise improve their economic conditions (Atlman et al., 2020). It becomes imperative to understand that immigration-impacted youth often live on the margins with limited protections and resources.

Methods

Data and Procedures

This capstone draws on the original survey and interview data collected by UCProMISE, a larger mixed-methods study designed to inform equitable policies for undocumented and immigration-impacted youth across the University of California (UC) system. The UC system holds various state and national highest-ranking universities that educate 12.5% of California's top high school students (Craig, 2023; UC Office of the President, 2007).

The cross-sectional quantitative data was collected between May to June 2020. Participants include 2,742 enrolled UC undergraduate students from the nine UC campuses who were at least 18 years of age and had at least one undocumented parent. Students were invited to participate through emails and social media posts from their campus' undocumented student support service office, staff and faculty teaching large general education and ethnic studies

courses, undocumented organizations, and university office newsletters. Participants that engaged in the study received a \$10 electronic gift card. The survey encompassed questions on academic performance, health and well-being, resource use, self and family demographics, and educational experience.

The qualitative data were collected from July to September 2021. Sixty-three semi-structured interviews were conducted for the original study. The sample was selected based on the following criteria: (1) self-identified as Latino (2) living in the country without permanent legal status or being a U.S.-born citizen with at least one undocumented parent (3) enrolled as at least a third-year or higher at a UC campus during the 2020-2021 academic year. One faculty member and five research assistants conducted one-1.5 hour of interviews in English through the Zoom platform. All participants provided verbal consent to the interview and received a \$40 gift card upon completion of the interview. All research activities were approved by the UC, Irvine Institutional Review Board.

Survey Sample

For this study, we focused the sample on students who self-identified as Latina, Latino, or Latinx and who were either undocumented (n=592), U.S. citizens with at least one undocumented parent (n=634), and U.S. citizen students with legal permanent residency (LPR) parents (n=635). Undocumented students included those with no current immigration status (n=155), Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals (DACA) recipients (n=428), temporary protected status (TPS) recipients (n=1), and those with U-Visas (n=8). For missing values, we used listwise deletion to preserve respondents with non-missing values, leaving us with an analytic sample of 1,861.

Interview Sample

Of the sixty-three participants, only thirty-three met the criteria for this study. Participants must have discussed food insecurity within their interviews, even if not asked directly about food insecurity. All participants self-identified as Latina, Latino, or Latinx. Participants included undocumented students with undocumented parents (n = 7), DACA recipients with undocumented parents (n = 12), and the remaining students are U.S.-born citizens with at least one undocumented parent (n = 14). The majority of participants self-identified as 4th year and older university enrollees. A majority of participants self-identified as female (n = 21). Participants' average age was between twenty to twenty-four years old.

Survey Measures

Dependent variables

The dependent variables include two measures of mental health and one measure of academic achievement. Two standardized measures were used to assess mental health. The Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) and Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7) ask respondents to indicate how often they have been bothered by various problems over the past two weeks. PHQ and GAD questions were measured by their frequency over the past two weeks including "several days", "more than half the days" and "nearly every day. Responses for PHQ were then summed across all scale items, resulting in a severity measure of depression score that ranged from 0 to 27 (Kroenke et al., 2001; α =0.89). Questions on the PHQ-9 assess tiredness, appetite, intrusive thoughts, difficulty concentrating, feelings of hopelessness, and lack of interest. Responses for GAD were summed across all scale items, resulting in a severity measure of anxiety score that ranged from 0 to 21. Questions on the GAD assess feelings of nervousness, worrisomeness, restlessness, fear, and difficulty relaxing (Spitzer et al., 2006; α =0.92). Higher scores on the PHQ-9 and GAD as indicative of more mental health symptomatology.

We measured *academic achievement* using the student's GPA. Respondents were asked to select their overall GPA. Responses ranged from 0.0 to 4.0. A higher GPA is indicative of positive academic performance.

Independent variables

The predictor variable was food insecurity. Food insecurity was measured using the 5-item U.S. Household Food Security Survey Module which asks respondents about food affordability and the food in their home within the last year. Participants were asked to rate how often the 5 statements were true using a scale of 0 to 3 (USDA Economic Research Service, 2012). Responses were then summed and categorized into two categories including those with high or marginal food security and those with low or very low food security. These values were labeled as food security (0) and food insecurity (1). *Moderators*

Two moderators were examined. The first moderator variable was immigration status which is based on self and parental immigration status. The moderator was coded into three categories including undocumented students (e.g., no legal status, DACA, or another liminal legal status), U.S. citizen students with at least one undocumented parent, and legal family status with U.S. citizen students and parent is a lawfully permanent resident (referent group). The second moderator variable was the use of food pantry campus resources. Respondents rated the frequency of the use of campus services in the academic year. The responses ranged from "never", "a few times a year", "about once a week", "more than once a week", and "I don't think this exists on my campus". The variable was re-coded to reflect "yes" (1) if the participant ever used the resources and "no" (0) if they never used the resource or if they indicated that "it didn't exist on their campus."

Covariates

We included covariates to control for other variables known to be associated with the outcomes such as age (continuous), and gender (women, queer/non-binary, and men as reference group). We also included students' feelings about their university campus. The campus sense of belonging scale examined students' on-campus participation, university climate, and campus feelings. Scores could range from 1- 4 and higher scores were suggestive of a positive welcoming environment towards immigrants on campus (α =88). Family economic hardship was included as a control variable to account for financial hardships faced by students' families. Family economic hardship was based on two items that address their family's difficulty in accessing food and other basic things. Higher scores on the family economic hardship scale were indicative of family economic insecurity (α =.88).

Quantitative Data Analysis

We first ran univariate descriptives to help us understand the difference in food insecurity among undocumented and mixed-status students. Next, we ran multivariate linear regression models for each outcome variable. We ran sequential models where we included (1) control variables, (2) predictor of interest, food insecurity, and immigration status (3) interaction terms for moderators. All analyses were conducted using SPSS statistical software.

Qualitative Data Analysis

The qualitative analysis was guided by two research questions: how do immigration-impacted youth experience food insecurity in their day-to-day lives? and what strategies or resources do students rely on or access to address food insecurity? Transcripts were managed using HyperRESEARCH, a qualitative-data-analysis software. The analysis was informed by constructivist grounded theory methods (Charmaz, 2006). Index coding was first

completed to identify all content in the initial sixty-three transcripts related to food insecurity. Transcripts were then narrowed down to thirty-three (52%). The following interview questions were the most relevant to the topic of food insecurity: "Being undocumented can come with a lot of financial challenges. Have you found this to be true for you and your family?" "Can you give some examples of financial challenges you have faced?" "Are there any campus resources that might help you manage financial challenges?" "What effect, if any, have these resources had on your academic or mental health?" Additional questions probed the access to food resources on a given campus.

The analysis was completed by three coders. Each transcript was assessed by at least two authors. A comparative approach was used between and within transcripts while completing initial, focused, and axial coding (Charmaz, 2006). All codes were consulted and reviewed with the lead advisor on the project. Initial and focused codes were merged to identify themes. The themes were consistent across the two groups (i.e., undocumented students and U.S. citizen students with undocumented parents). To support the trustworthiness of the study authors regularly meet to discuss the analysis process and debriefed findings. Pseudonyms were used for each participant.

Quantitative Results

The capstone is focused on students who self-identified as Latina, Latino, or Latinx. Table 1 provides a breakdown of the descriptive statistics from the sample (n=1,861). Within our sample 31.8% (n=592) were undocumented students, 34.1% (n=634) were U.S. citizen students with at least one undocumented parent, and 34.1% (n=635) were U.S. citizen students with parents who were lawful permanent residents. The average age of participants was 20.64 years old (SD=2.336, Range= 18-40). Of the 1,861 participants, 74.6% (n=441) self-identified as females, and 2% (n=37) identified as queer, or nonbinary. Participants were in their first year (22%, n=409), second year (18.1%, n=336), third year (28.2%, n=524), or fourth year or higher (26.1%, n=485). The students were recruited from nine UCs but the following three campuses had the largest share of participants in the study: UC Riverside (19%, n=353), UC Irvine (16.4%, n=305), and UC Los Angeles (12.3%, n=229).

Table 2 provides a breakdown of the descriptives for predictor, outcomes, and moderator variables. Over half of the participants (57.9%, n=1102) reported experiencing food insecurity. Nearly two-thirds of undocumented students and 60% of U.S. citizen students with undocumented parents were food insecure. Food insecurity was also high among U.S. citizen students with parents who are lawful permanent residents (57.9%, n=364). The mean average score on the PHQ-6 was higher among U.S. citizen students with an undocumented parent (M=10.62, SD=6.61), followed by undocumented students (M=10.52, SD=6.59) and U.S. citizen students with parents with lawful permanent status (M=9.78, SD =6.25). GAD means were higher for U.S. citizen students with an undocumented parent (M= 9.27, SD= 5.94), then undocumented students (M =9.25, SD =5.93) and U.S. citizen students with parents with lawful permanent status (M = 8.66, SD = 5.75). Similarly for academic achievement, undocumented students (60.8%, n=360) and mixed-status family students (60.3%, n=379) reported a lower percentage of GPAs higher than 3.0 in comparison to U.S. citizen students with parents with lawful permanent status (68.9%, n=435). For access to food pantry resources, nearly 70% of undocumented students reported using this service (66.9%, n=395), followed by U.S. Citizen students with undocumented parents (60.9%, n=384) and U.S. Citizen students with parents who are lawfully present (52.3%, n=331).

Table 3 shows the results of our multivariate linear regression models for mental health outcomes. As hypothesized, food insecurity is associated with increased depression and anxiety symptomatology. The findings were similar for both psychological distress and anxiety. Model one, which included the control variables, indicated that women and non-binary participants reported higher levels of mental health symptoms in comparison to men. Sense of belonging on campus was associated with fewer mental health symptoms while participants who reported family economic hardship reported higher levels of mental health symptoms. Model two, added the predictor of interest, food insecurity, moderators, immigration status, and use of food pantry resources. The predictor of interest, food insecurity, was associated with higher levels of mental health symptoms. For every point increase in the food insecurity scale, depression increased by .218 meanwhile anxiety by .175. Additionally, the use of food pantry campus resources was associated with a decline in mental health symptoms (PHQ:-.061 and GAD:-.053). Immigration status was not statistically associated with mental health outcomes; that is, no differences between the groups were observed. We also ran the analysis with interaction terms to assess the relationship between food insecurity*immigration status and mental health, we did not find a significant coefficient. Similarly, we found no statistical significance in the interaction term between food pantry resource*immigration status on mental health. That is, the use of food pantry resources did not buffer the effects of food insecurity on mental health.

Table 4 provides the results of our multivariate linear regression model for academic achievement. Consistent with our hypothesis there is a negative association between food insecurity and academic achievement; that is, students who report being food insecure reported a decline in their GPA. Model one which added the control variables revealed that none of the control variables were statistically associated with GPA. In model 2 we added the predictors of interest. The predictor variable, food insecurity, is associated with lower academic GPA. For every point increase in the food insecurity scale, academic GPA decreased by -.134. Immigration status was also significant, with undocumented and U.S. citizen students with an undocumented parent reporting lower GPAs compared to the U.S. citizen students with parents with lawful permanent status. Similar to the mental health analysis, the use of food pantry campus resources was associated with an increase in academic GPA (0.058). Additionally, we found no support for an interaction effect; that is, no statistical difference in the relationship between food insecurity on academic achievement by the immigration status of Latina, Latino, and Latinx students or the use of food pantry resources.

In summary, being food insecure was associated with higher levels of psychological distress, anxiety, and a decline in academic achievement. Immigration status did not have a main effect on mental health symptoms, but it did have a main effect on academic achievement with undocumented and U.S. citizen students reporting lower GPAs compared to U.S. citizen students with parents who are lawfully present residents. Immigration status and use of food pantry resources were not statistically significant moderators in the relationship between food insecurity and mental health outcomes or academic achievement.

Qualitative Results

Our analysis revealed that food insecurity is not a brief or single-episode experience for Latinx immigration-impacted youth; rather the opposite, it is a repeated and constant experience throughout their lives. Immigration-impacted students, whether undocumented or members of mixed-status families face structural inequities due to their and/or their parents' precarious status that heighten their experience of economic and material hardships such as food insecurity. Consequently, students are exposed to food insecurity early in their lives and it follows them into

their adulthoods and as they transition to the university context. For many, the issue has been normalized in their basic needs tradeoffs, often leaving food out of the equation, which was a normal part of their lives. We find that students use a range of survival strategies to navigate their experience of food insecurity. Many survival strategies stem from economic insecurity in the household during childhood and evolve as they transition to university. The findings between undocumented students and U.S. citizen students with undocumented parents are very similar in many ways, with minor exceptions that will be identified in each section.

Food Insecurity Pipeline

We use the term, food insecurity pipeline, to refer to the experience of food insecurity that begins in students' childhood households and follows youth to their college campuses. At the root, are the systemic inequities that have created economic hardship for immigration-impacted families, where they normalize basic needs tradeoffs throughout their lives such as going without food. Leticia Tazoc's, an undocumented student with DACA, narrative illustrates the origins of the food insecurity pipeline. Throughout the interview, Leticia describes how food insecurity is not a new phenomenon as she has experienced material hardships constantly and recurrently throughout her life.

...I knew my mom had to feed my sisters... She wouldn't have a lot of breast milk, so I would count pennies and I would take it to Jack in the Box... I remember I got so happy that I was able to afford two tacos. And so I gave it to my mom because I knew she had to breastfeed my sister, and that was the only thing that I could afford. So I remember I wanted to eat those tacos, but I couldn't because they had to go to my mom. And so I lied to my mom saying that "Oh, I'm not hungry, I already ate." And I would do that a lot because she had to eat. ...I would go days without eating food.

Leticia's parents are undocumented limiting the family household's financial opportunities and resulting in material hardships including food insecurity. As a child, she had to grow up quickly as she began to understand the desperate financial circumstances her family faced due to their precarious immigration status. Leticia, now twenty-one years old, has work authorization through Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals (DACA). Although she has work authorization, she worries constantly about making enough money for necessities for her family and herself. She works multiple jobs, and is extremely cautious of her spending, yet regularly experiences food insecurity. Students reflect that the economic and material hardships their families faced during their childhood continue into their adulthood. For example, Leo Garcia, a U.S. citizen with undocumented parents, reflects on his childhood when his family faced economic hardships.

When the recession hit...we had no income and we started having to sell most of our personal belongings...And initially, it was more of an issue of "Can we afford food, given that we have to pay the rent and power and water?" And we started taking even more seriously having to, Okay, we're not going to take showers this whole week. That's to the extent that we got, and it [went on while I was] in second and third grade, that we ended up living in our truck just to save money.

Leo's experience demonstrates the basic needs tradeoff that immigration-impacted families engage in to make ends meet. Other students reflect on the limited meals their families had due to economic hardships. For example, Santos Castro, a U.S. citizen with undocumented parents, shares the time his mom made tortillas with oil, salt, and chili as...toppings for a dinner plate.

There was this one time my mom made tortillas with aceite [oil], and then she'll put chile on it or salt because we didn't have any more food. This is the US. This is not Mexico.

...we didn't have food stamps or we didn't have money. We would just pay rent. But my mom improvised and she made tortillas and we ate. That's always a harsh memory that I have.

Experiences of economic and material hardship continue into their adulthood. As adults, they limit their financial requests from their family households, even as they experience hunger. For many their financial aid was not enough to make ends meet. Many times, the youth expressed feelings of being a burden on the household if financial requests were made. Edwin Gordillo, an undocumented student, shares how his family's economic uncertainties affected how he navigated food insecurity once he transitioned to the university.

I would have to go to the [campus food] pantry and get food from there to make sure I was okay because I know my folks didn't have the budget to be able to support me like that, so I didn't want to be a burden on them, so I would just seek different resources for myself. And basically, that's how I managed this whole time while I was up in [UC] Santa Cruz.

Edwin, undocumented students, and U.S. citizen students with undocumented parents alike describe their household financial situation in a similar experience where the material hardship is felt since childhood and affects how they request support in adulthood. By understanding the root of food insecurity among this population, we can reflect on how it is fully experienced.

Normalizing Food Insecurity

Youth normalize the experience of food insecurity by minimizing or disregarding food insecurity as a serious issue. Throughout the interviews, youth describe how they engage in basic needs tradeoffs such as limiting food intake to pay for other necessities. As they share their perspective of their day-to-day lives, they genuinely believe these are normal practices that everyone experiences.

Leticia Tazoc, an undocumented student with DACA, illustrates how she survived hunger on campus, "this \$5 should be there for this whole week... I do remember that's how it happened, like three times, I [would] only have \$5 for the whole week, and I managed to survive." Leticia's experience highlights how her financial situation forced her to normalize her food choices being restricted to \$5/week. Sylvia Molina Santoya, an undocumented student with DACA, shares how food choices were limited based on remaining funds after she paid for rent. Similar to Leticia, Sylvia normalized food as a limited resource only if income allowed. She expresses, "If there were circumstances where I needed food. I wasn't working at the time, by the way. I was just going to school and getting financial aid, which luckily covered my rent. Sometimes, I had an extra \$20, \$40 left over, which I would use for food." In this way, Sylvia has forcibly normalized food insecurity by prioritizing her housing and education expenses and seeing her nourishment as a luxury.

For other students, normalizing food insecurity meant they restricted their food intake, or they did not recognize the issue as a problem. For Ryan Zepeda, an undocumented student, his food choices included strategically planning to have enough portions for the next day. "So it's like a daily thing, it's sort of like you have to watch yourself every day. Even with the food I would have to watch how much I would eat of my meal to be like, 'Okay, I have enough for tomorrow." In this way, Ryan normalizes the constant pattern of limited food choices. Other students normalize food insecurity by denying food insecurity was present in their lives. Fernando Medina, a U.S. citizen with undocumented parents, initially responded that his family did not experience food or housing insecurities, but as the interview continued, he reflected that during financially difficult times, "Yeah, I mean, for a while it was just rice and beans. Given

that, my dad goes in and out of jobs." Belen Mesa, an undocumented student with DACA, illustrates another way that food insecurity is minimized. Her household relies on food banks and affordable food grocery options to meet their needs. Yet, the household denies food insecurity even as they have become food resource dependent due to limited income. She shares, "We don't have food insecurities. My mom does a good job of finding deals at the grocery stores or going to food banks and getting food there." From these stories, it becomes evident that students normalize food insecurity as an experience they must journey through. Some normalize the insecurity by not recognizing it as an issue, others as making basic needs trade-offs or limiting their food intake has become a daily part of their lives.

Food Insecurity and Survival Strategies

We gained a nuanced understanding of students' experience of food insecurity as they shared multiple strategies used to navigate food insecurity. Earlier, Leticia Tzoc, an undocumented student with DACA, was introduced to demonstrate the food insecurity pipeline and illustrate the steps she took to protect her family. Since immigration-impacted youth have experienced repeated episodes of food insecurity throughout their lives they develop survival strategies that they can transition or adapt once on their college campus. We believe these strategies make these students resilient. We highlight examples of individual survival strategies and resources used to navigate food insecurity.

Individual Survival Strategies

Financial hypervigilance

Hypervigilance is the "state of constantly assessing potential threats around you" (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). In the case of immigration-impacted youth, we refer to financial hypervigilance as the state of constantly assessing financial decisions to survive and meet their food intake needs. This can be seen through forms of strict budgeting or even rationing food to offset financial demands. Nevertheless, hypervigilance is a strategy that occurs consciously and subconsciously and can be an emotionally debilitating coping mechanism (Richards et al., 2014). For the youth, this coping mechanism consequently affects their well-being.

Ryan Zepeda, an undocumented student, discussed how he would routinely budget his expenses, yet his financial resources often fell short leaving him with the difficult decision to deprioritize food. Although he knew resources such as an on-campus pantry existed, he had classes during the pantry's open hours. Instead, he would go home after class and go to sleep early to avoid his hunger.

I had a budget set out. I got good at budgeting myself for every month, but then that became a daily because I knew that if I had already exceeded or had already met, in all my budget for that week it would turn bad though because then I would not have food. Sometimes I wouldn't go to the Fresh [pantry] because I had classes during that time. And then those times I would go to bed early just because I wasn't going to have dinner that night or probably just went home and took naps just because of hunger stuff. That was... [usually] going towards the end of the month. But that's the strictness that I had to really constrict myself to get through every single month.

Students, like Ryan, discuss the economic restrictions they were forced to adjust to. Diana Mora, a U.S. citizen student with undocumented parents, can work and have income; however, because her family has experienced financial challenges, she now anticipates that financial challenges will occur and she has taken on more financial responsibilities in her family's household. She shared, "I am older now and I can work. I did work during the summer, so it's not as bad. But

there are always worries; am I spending too much? What do I have to allocate for the rent here or for food or things we need?" She anticipates the loss of income and is hypervigilant about her spending. Similarly, Lucia Ortega, an undocumented student with DACA, shares how sticking to her budget often had consequences for her social interactions as she would limit spending time with friends when it meant having an additional cost that she had not accounted for in her budget. She shared, "I just feel like it's unfortunate because people will ask to hang out, go out to eat...or go do something that costs money and I can't do that kind of stuff ...everything is towards food and rent."

Other students described how they restricted their options to the most affordable food options as a means of stretching their limited funds. Ruben Huerta-Diaz, a U.S. citizen with undocumented parents, shares his experience of staying vigilant of his budget. "We're talking about cheap food, Top Ramen, fast food, super unhealthy, but affordable options." In this similar light, Sylvia Molina Santoyo, an undocumented student with DACA, shares, "I had to consider different brands for some products, just look for cheaper items..., go to the store, and find the cheapest thing I could. That was technically my whole college experience." We can see that food insecurity is not a single episode, but rather students faced this adversity throughout their college experience. While students reconsider their financial choices to survive, they continue to normalize the experience of food insecurity. For example, Rocio Carillo, an undocumented student with DACA, shares, "I didn't even know if it was food insecurity until I went to college...I had to really rationalize my meal swipe and rationalize my budget closely to buy groceries." Students are resilient, they find ways to restrict themselves and learn how to make ends meet. Although students have survived these experiences, it is not a humane way to live. Food opportunity hypervigilance

We refer to food opportunity hypervigilance as the state of constantly assessing opportunities for obtaining food to survive. Pilar Bautista, an undocumented student with DACA, shares how the center tailored for undocumented immigrant students on campus shared with her the events that provided food. "They had a place for free food where you could come and get free food. They had weekly meetings where you could just come in." This experience was felt similarly for Mateo Olivares Galvan, an undocumented student with DACA, who shares how he would stay vigilant about opportunities to access food. "I would go to a lot of events where there was free food, if they just had free food, I would go to them. I'll just go because there's free food." The student's stories bring to light their resiliency, but also, their hypervigilance around places and events that will provide food on campus. This strategy was not shared by U.S. citizen students with undocumented parents in this sample. Seeking additional income opportunities

Students find unique streams of income to survive food insecurity. We can see the differences between U.S. citizen students who have legal work status compared to students who do not have legal work status. Madeline Salinas, a U.S. citizen, would pick up additional shifts to make sufficient income for food expenses. "Well, I can just take a couple more shifts" or ... I'll just eat sandwiches straight for this week. But I had food. So I think it just felt improper to use [resources]." Whereas undocumented students find creative forms of making income such as entrepreneurial efforts. In this case, Mateo Olivares Galvas, an undocumented student with DACA, shares how he would take pictures for students for additional income. "I did an event on campus and I was like, 'Hey everybody, I'm doing headshots.' ... Then after that, I put up a website... that money helped me pay for my textbooks, helped me pay for everything, for food and stuff." Although immigration-impacted students have different ways of making money, it

shows their resilience when faced with food insecurity. Both groups of students find ways to survive through unique forms of income.

Resources on Campus

Universities are aware of food insecurity on their campuses; many campuses have created Basic Needs and Emergency support teams. Unfortunately, students may not always know about all the resources available to them. Among our qualitative interviews, students mention that oftentimes they became aware of resources or opportunities on campus through offices tailored towards assisting immigrant students on campus, such as the Undocumented Student Programs at UC Riverside. For example, Emilia Negrete Romero, an undocumented student, shares how she lives off campus and used community support services for food. However, she was supported by UC Riverside staff to find external support. "Through the Director of Undocumented Student Programs, I found out about food pantries in general... I found one near me." Through this strong network, she was able to connect to external off-campus resources. Unfortunately, there is no standardized way of providing resources on each of the UC campuses. Therefore, students' main way of finding resources is by referral from on-campus staff to resources on or off campus. In the following sections, we outline some of the remedying campus resources that have served students for short-term relief.

Pantries

Most of the UC campuses provide food pantries. The pantries may provide fresh food like fruits and vegetables, but most of the time, they provide non-perishable foods. Students reflect on their experience using these resources to reduce food insecurity. Bianca, Madeline, and Maricela share how they used their campus pantries multiple times in the last year.

Bianca Mercado (an undocumented student with DACA): My paychecks were barely enough to buy groceries. And so being able to get free groceries from campus was a huge deal for me. You know, being able to get eggs and milk for free was just crazy. Madeline Salinas (U.S. Citizen with undocumented parents: There were a lot of resources that I knew. There was a food pantry which gave out free food. I had a friend who worked there,...she was part of the Chicano student programs and she would always advertise, 'Hey, anybody who has food insecurity, you get this amount of food a week.' It was nice. I would just go get Cheerios, pasta boxes, and things like that. That always really helped. Maricela Paredes (U.S. citizen student with undocumented parents): UC Davis also has a food pantry that would distribute food every week... but the only thing I would take from there was fruits because I have to eat gluten-free. So a lot of the things that they had, I couldn't even have...save me money.

Although these resources are effective in supporting students, Maricela shows that they may not be enough when you consider the health restrictions for some students. Pantries are a great start for supporting food-insecure students, but they are not the end-all-be-all solution. Maricela, like other students, struggles with health conditions that limit their food options. Additionally, we have noted other issues that prevent students from accessing the pantries. Students like Ryan Zepeda mention that at times he could not access the pantry due to his schedule conflict. He had classes at the time the pantry was open and could not access the resource. A college student's priority is their academic success, but as they struggle with feelings of hunger this will affect their day-to-day lives.

UC garden

Some campuses have created gardens to produce fresh fruits and vegetables at no extra cost for their students. Madeline Salinas, a U.S. citizen student, shares how UC Riverside has a

garden that provides fresh produce at zero cost. "I think that was a great resource. I mean, it helped me." Other campuses partner with community gardens and provide free vouchers for their students. This way, the student can take advantage of gardens nearby. Arely Barajas, an undocumented student, shared "I don't know if you've heard of the Tanaka farms vouchers. So that helps a lot." The gardens allow students to have fresh fruits and vegetables that pantries may not provide.

Cash or gift card assistance

Emergency grants are another mechanism used to support students. Nicole Robles, an undocumented student, shares how the center tailored to undocumented students on campus assisted her with emergency grants:

So if it was, let's say, I needed money for rent or food, there's an emergency grant that students can take at our undocumented center up to \$500 for basic needs. So food and things like that, which I have taken advantage of in the last few years.

Emergency grants are a very unique form of assistance because they provide direct cash to students. As we have highlighted, students are wise with their money and will use that emergency assistance in their best interests. Grocery gift cards are key to campuses addressing food insecurity because they give students more flexibility in meeting their nutritional needs. These cards are a direct form of cash similar to a debit card. Additionally, these cards can be taken back to their households for support. For example, Catalina Paz Flores, an undocumented student with DACA, shares her experience obtaining gift cards from campus programs. These gift cards allowed her to purchase groceries on her schedule.

Undocumented Student Program, they just started this program. I think it's just a pilot program to see how it goes...they chose 30 students, and 30 undocumented students to give them two \$200 grocery cards for food, so \$400 for the summer. And that's so helpful, right there, that's perfect.

Through connecting with their undocumented support centers, students find these creative ways of meeting their needs. Aiden Chacon, an undocumented student with DACA, shares how his legal status prevents him from accessing federally funded services which directed him towards seeking support on campus.

I feel like something I missed out on because of... status as CalFresh. I feel like that is something huge that my mom and I could have benefited from, but our UndocuCenter made their program where you apply monthly and they give you a \$50 to \$100 gift card for grocery stores. So, in a way, they made up for that.

Additionally, when a student can support their households with resources such as food it alleviates food insecurity for more than one person. This can best be illustrated by sharing how Nicole Robles, an undocumented student, obtains resources from on-campus and shares them with their households.

The most common ones [grocery vouchers] that they [Undocumented center on campus] do is Albertans or Save Mart. So the franchise, so students can receive up to 500 per quarter and I have taken advantage of those. And also living at home, I feel like having that support kind of eases my parent's support of just providing everyone with food. So I can support them in that way because I received grocery vouchers. That way we don't have to spend as much money on groceries and that can go to other things such as rent or any emergencies that come up.

Grocery gift cards, like emergency grants, are a great way to put extra income into students' pockets while giving them the autonomy they deserve. All campus resources are essential for

filling the gap in student food insecurity. However, it is even more important to recognize that on top of individual survival strategies and on-campus resources, students may gravitate towards larger communal strategies to support their needs. Although not all students have an external support system, those that do have greater success in addressing their food insecurity.

Family and Communal Resources

Students engaged with resources off-campus when on-campus results were limited or fell short of their needs. Examples included family households providing food for students, community food pantries, and federal resources like food stamps. *Family support system*

Through external support, we differentiate students who lean on their family households for food. Students may not be supported financially by their households, but some relied on their household for food if needed. For example, Nicole Robles an undocumented student, stated "I haven't had many needs for financial aid or just any support since I am living with my parents and I don't need to pay out of pocket for rent or groceries." In a similar case, Aimee Banuelos, a U.S. citizen student shares the financial insecurities in her household but depends on her parents for food. "It's not like they [Parents] could cover a year's worth of tuition or even a month, but because of them sometimes I'm able to eat because they're the ones who can provide at least that, like food." In these examples, we highlight the importance of family support for college students. Although families may not have the financial means to extensively support their children with tuition or other school-related costs, they can provide the food that they need to relieve food insecurity throughout their academic careers.

Community food pantry

In a similar way to campus food pantries, community food pantries support students who live off-campus or students who do not have access to a food pantry on campus. For example, for Penelope Mejia, an undocumented student, using community-based food pantries is a normal practice to meet her food insecurity needs. Additionally, this resource is expanded to the household. She shares, "I don't think there's a year where I don't remember my mom not going to pantries and donation places, or churches to get food." Penelope also shares how food pantries offered by local churches have been an accessible resource for food. This resource outside of campus has supported the student throughout her life. On the other hand, Belen Mesa, an undocumented student with DACA, shares that where she works is how she obtains her food. "Where I'm interning right now, they have a food bank, so I take some food home from here..." She shares how this resource has helped her take food back to her college campus and even back to her family's household.

CalFresh

CalFresh (or food stamps) in California is a great resource for U.S. citizen students as they are eligible to receive this benefit. However, undocumented individuals are not eligible for this resource even if they are food insecure. We highlight the benefits of CalFresh as it is a resource students engage with off-campus.

For undocumented students, their citizen siblings would get Food Stamps and share their food with them. Mateo Olivares Galvan, an undocumented student with DACA, expresses his gratitude for having this resource because of his U.S. citizen siblings. "...with my siblings being from here we do get food stamps. So, I'm very grateful for that and I think that for me now it's more of a motivator." CalFresh alleviates the stress for immigration-impacted youth. Fernanda Nava, a U.S. citizen with undocumented parents, and Aimee Banuelos, a U.S. citizen with undocumented parents, share the benefits of seeking resources like CalFresh. For example,

Fernanda shares, "I found out that I was eligible for CalFresh, so that kind of alleviated that stressor for me." To further share the positive benefits, Aimee shares, "Yeah, I think [CalFresh] had a positive one because I don't have to worry about food insecurity. So it's been on the brighter side."

There are still many barriers to CalFresh for students even when they do have U.S. citizenship. For example, Ruby Pedroda shares the bureaucratic struggles of renewing her CalFresh eligibility. "I would also get food stamps during my third year. I remember I didn't think I submitted this document or something and then they cut it." This shows that even when students are U.S. citizens and experiencing food insecurity they have to keep up with processes and deadlines to stay eligible for the resource. For other students, they may not know about the resource until they are shared awareness from staff on campus. Fernando Medina, a U.S. citizen with undocumented parents, shares,

So I got EBT thanks to that. I'm less stressed with money and my meals. So that has been a very positive influence on my college life.... I wasn't finding all these things [resources] or reading up on all these things [resources]. And I think a lot of that, too, was due to the high workload, like unit count. So I was just staying in my lane. It wasn't until, I think, a year and a half ago, I found out that I was eligible.

Although some students keep up with their deadlines, many may not be aware of the existing resources until someone points them in the right direction. Nevertheless, for students that can access the resource it shows to relieve many stressors and assist in meeting students' food insecurity.

Legal Vulnerability

Students' own or their parent's status makes them legally vulnerable as they experience economic insecurity and subsequently material hardships including food insecurity, and legal vulnerability creates barriers to needed resources/services. Immigrant households may be prevented from accessing resources, such as CalFresh, due to their legal status. Lack of access to federal funding programs becomes an exacerbating factor in food insecurity. Among the students interviewed, undocumented students shared that they do not qualify for resources. Whereas U.S. citizen students with undocumented parents may limit their use of resources due to fear of long-term legal implications for the undocumented parents. Therefore, even when households are in resource-rich environments such as the UC system that could connect them to external resources, their legal vulnerability prevents them from accessing such resources.

For undocumented students, their legal status prevents them from directly accessing CalFresh or food stamps. Rocio Carillo Guerra, an undocumented student with DACA, reflects on the biggest constraint she experienced as an undocumented, food-insecure college student.

I think one of the biggest, or one of the most recent ones for me was the CalFresh assistance working at the FRESH Basic Needs Hub and always promoting these resources, I'm like, "Oh my God, like I just realized I am not eligible for CalFresh and for food assistance because I am not a resident. I am not a citizen. I don't have the status and I don't meet that requirement." So, yeah, definitely that was one of the big things that would have helped during college.

Even though she participated in bringing awareness to students' basic needs, she was not eligible for the resources she was promoting. JD Armenta, an undocumented student with DACA, shares how he found out the hard way as he attempted to apply for the resources and was rejected. "I tried to apply for food stamps, but because I think I wasn't a resident or a citizen, I wasn't able to. So I wasn't able to get some food." Many undocumented students like JD, become

aware of how their legal status adds barriers to accessing food resources once in college. For others, they know this added barrier has been present throughout their lives. Concomitantly, U.S. citizen students limit or refrain from using resources they are eligible for because of their parent's precarious status. Ruby Pedrosa, Camila Rios, and Isaiah Avalos either elected to or were persuaded by their parents to discontinue their use of federally funded resources.

Ruby Pedrosa (U.S. citizen with undocumented parents): I think there was this one instance where we heard that Trump had put this thing on public charge ... I told my mom like, "Hey, there's this thing going on. We need to not get food stamps anymore because if we're going to apply for your papers, then this is going to make us disqualified and stuff. Camila Rios (U.S. citizen with undocumented parents): [her mother] also used food stamps and section eight housing, but then quickly after when there were rumors that this would impact, your possibility of one day getting a U.S. residency or citizenship my parents cut everything out because they were afraid about that happening. Isaiah Avalos (U.S. citizen with undocumented parents): For several months I was able to cover the grocery costs for the family, which was one less concern for us. I was going to re-apply [CalFresh] but at the time, there was so much uncertainty in the air because I think Trump had just signed an executive order. I think he passed a law, which said any immigrants who get any help from the federal government will not be considered for their green card. Even though I argued, "I'm the one that's using it, not you guys," they insisted, "Don't renew it. Don't renew it. Just as a precaution." So that's why I didn't end up renewing it.

Students question their use of resources as the political climate and proposed changes to public charge threaten their parents' opportunity to adjust their status in the future. Accessing resource carriers is a heavier weight compared to accessing food to address their food insecurity as the long-term implications would keep their family legally vulnerable and economically insecure. Although resources to address food insecurity, such as CalFresh, fill in the gap for households in the United States, the benefits are not the same for immigration-impacted youth. Food stamps are not a safety net for families who are affected by immigration policies.

Food Insecurity and Student Wellbeing

Students describe how food insecurity has shaped their health and academic journey. Food insecurity took a physical and emotional toll on students; and impacted students ability to do well in courses and maintain GPAs at an acceptable level. Mateo Olivares Galvan, an undocumented student with DACA, described various stressors he faced as he was food insecure and the toll on his academic performance and mental health.

In my second year, I was under the cheapest meal plan at UCLA even though I was living there, I only had 11 meals a week. So there were certain days where I wouldn't even eat or I would go to free food programs and yes, I could have come home, but I didn't have money. I didn't even have money to take a bus to come back home...I think that throughout my time, I've always sort of had this financial and career burden that hasn't allowed me to always fully focus on my academics. And it has resulted in a multitude of things, like anxiety, depression, and imposter syndrome.

Students worry about their next meal and are constantly thinking about limiting their meals, and the legal implications of accessing resources. These stressors place youth at risk for poor health outcomes. At the same time, experiencing food insecurity impacts the mental well-being of students by feeling like a burden to their families due to their financial constraints to meet their

basic needs. For instance, Paloma Montero, a U.S. citizen, mentions how she still hasn't shared these hidden feelings when it comes to food insecurity with her family.

So I still kind of, I never told this to my parents, but I still felt like a burden to them... I felt like I should have been independent by that time and I shouldn't have had to depend on my parents for food.

Feeling like they are a burden on their parents becomes additional stressor students contend with. In addition to the impacts on their mental health, Gabriel Ballon, an undocumented student with DACA, shares how the limited access to nutritional food had implications for his physical health.

Well yeah, in college it was like shit. Sorry, like how I'm going to pay for food, how I'm going to buy my books, gas, and parking. Yeah, it was a lot but honestly, I was really skinny. They say like a freshman in college you gain some weight, but honestly, I think I hardly gained any weight because I hardly ate. After all, it was like, "Damn, I can only eat this today because I don't have enough money for that. And if I do, I'll eat this and save it for tomorrow.

Gabriel was constantly negotiating his finances and food options; his financial hypervigilance did not protect him from going without meals. Financial constraints often informed their food choices which meant they had to compromise on nutritional value and select affordable items. Ryan Zepeda describes how financial constraints shaped his food selection and the consequences for his well-being.

My diet would be... composed of carbs and starches and not even meat, to be honest. A lot of times it was just lentils or bowls or very heavy-based foods that were easy to cook and just on the go, but also not very nutritious at all. So I gained a lot of weight during that time, but not for good reasons. ... And it's an everyday thing because the way that I would eat would impact the way that I would act during the whole day. The way my energy levels would be the way that I would put go to my classes or the way that I would react or feel, or all that just based on me just only having lentils.

Financial hardships plagued students' food options with a range of implications for their health and well-being ranging from weight gain, weight loss, mood shifts, lack of concentration, and low energy levels.

Food Insecurity and Academic Achievement

Earlier we learned from Gael Yepez Corea, an undocumented student, that his experience of food insecurity and related stressors prevented him from fully focusing on his academics and heightened his experience of imposter syndrome. He stated, "It's kind of hard to focus on school or writing a paper or doing anything when you don't have any food in your system." In a similar light, Santos Castro, a U.S. citizen student with undocumented parents, shares how economic uncertainty, and family household uncertainty, created food insecurity and further impacted his emotional well-being and academic success.

A few months after I started community college... my mom couldn't handle it anymore. We were separated because of economic hardships. My mom couldn't pay the rent anymore. We're paying for this small little house for \$900. There were like seven of us and we couldn't pay any more. My mom just decided to move out with my sisters. So that was a toll on me when my parents split, my mom left for Utah Salt Lake City, where my uncle lives, and my tía. So they left, she left with my sisters and I stayed back with my brother and my dad because I had just started community college. And my brother as well was finishing up high school. So we couldn't leave. So we were split and that took a toll on me because I just. Just imagine, you can't afford rent, so your family has separated. So

it took a toll because my mom was the one that would feed us, so I had to worry about food ...that took a toll on my education. I think I failed all my courses at that time, including my summer course. Sorry, my semester in my community college at SMC, Santa Monica College. I was going through depression. I'm just confused because that support system, that family system wasn't there. And that was one factor there.

Support from the household is essential for a student's well-being and academic success. The connection between financial support from the household, and individual food insecurity, highly impacts the way a student navigates their college experience. Santos is now a student at UC Santa Cruz. He transferred from community college to a four-year university and has been resilient in his pursuit of education. Unfortunately, his resiliency does not take away from the significance of his food-insecure experiences and the effects they had on his education. Their experience of food insecurity has implications for their future aspirations.

Carolina Aguilar, a U.S. citizen with undocumented parents, shares her future aspirations to afford food without worry. "I need to have a job…a stable source of income and be able to buy food." These aspirations, similar to all students we interviewed, are not only aspirations for themselves but fulfilling stability to support their families as well.

Discussion

In our capstone, we examined the experience of food insecurity among immigration-impacted students. This study adds to the current literature on food insecurity among immigrant communities, with a unique focus on immigration-impacted college students and their households. Moreover, exploring the relationship between mental health and academic consequential outcomes associated with food insecurity.

Quantitative Discussion

Our quantitative analysis aims to uncover the differences in food insecurity between immigration-impacted students, in the relationship between food insecurity, mental health, and academic outcomes; and to determine if access to resources on campus moderates the relationship between food insecurity and outcomes. We found that food insecurity was associated with psychological distress, anxiety, and academic achievement. That is, students who reported high levels of food insecurity also reported higher levels of psychological distress and anxiety, and lower academic achievement (or GPA). Despite identifying higher food insecure percentages for undocumented and mixed-status students in comparison to U.S citizen students with lawfully present parents, in the descriptive analysis, the moderation analysis revealed there is no statistical significance in food insecurity by immigration status on health and academic outcomes. Significantly, all three immigration-status groups demonstrated above 50% of food insecurity. These rates are higher than what is found among the general college student population in CA (44%) (LAO, 2019).

Our findings are consistent with past research that has found that food insecurity impacts mental health and academic achievement. Martinez (2020) establishes that food insecurity is related to lower student grade point averages and indirectly to poor mental health. Payne-Sturges (2018) conducted a study indicating that food-insecure students experience poorer mental health than food-secure students. Weaver (2019) similarly conducted a study analyzing the association between food insecurity and academic performance. The results revealed that food insecurity increases the probability of being in the lower 10% GPA. Additionally, this study pointed out that marginalized communities had higher odds of being food insecure (Weaver, 2019). Similarly, our findings suggest that food insecurity is associated with higher levels of psychological distress, anxiety, and a decline in academic achievement. Future research on food insecurity must push for

longitudinal studies of food insecurity to understand food insecurity beyond one point in their life but rather across various years.

Since the moderation analysis revealed there is no statistical significance in the relationship between food insecurity and the outcomes (mental health and academics) by immigration status it is imperative to understand the root of this finding. Our findings help to understand the impact of legal violence on mixed-status families or adult children in mixed-status families (Menjivar & Abrego, 2012). The legacy of systematic inequalities in the United States has normalized legal violence even once undocumented communities acquire legal status. Legal violence are practices that harm both legal and undocumented communities, psychologically, economically, or physically (Menjivar & Abrego, 2012). From previous research, it becomes evident that anti-immigrant rhetoric has developed fear in the immigrant community. Even when citizen students attempt to enroll in public safety net services to help bridge some of the food insecurity, fear has driven them away (Bernstein et al., 2020). From the qualitative data, we find that both undocumented and U.S. citizen students considered using public services, fear of public charge for themselves or their family members prevented them from acquiring services. Findings from the present study further support research on the spillover effects of immigration policy on immigrant families (Eskenazi et al., 2019), that is, anti-immigrant policies not only impact those who are undocumented but documented and citizen family members as well. This finding makes it crucial to further analyze the day-to-day experience of food-insecure students and their immediate health and academic outcomes.

Furthermore, the use of campus resources, i.e., food pantry, was associated with improved mental health and academic achievement; however, it did not buffer the effects of food insecurity on mental health or academic achievements. Access to food pantry services may alleviate some stressors; however, it is not able to eliminate the effects of food insecurity on health and academic achievements. For students who access campus programs, immediate support provides a band-aid to hunger, but we recognize it is not a long-term solution for the systematic challenges that have exacerbated students' experience of hunger. Food insecurity in its various forms results from material hardship (Gelatt et al., 2019), therefore resources are essential and should be developed and prioritized by UC campuses. Unfortunately, UC campuses, even when ranked as top US institutions that receive the most state funds, continue to have students who are food insecure and unaware of their resources (LAO, 2023; LAO, 2019). Literature suggests the importance of student advocacy for food pantries on college campuses (Martinez et al., 2019). Similar to our finding, pantries support students but do not solve the issue entirely (Martinez et al., 2019; Mechler et al., 2021). A second explanation is that students may be unaware of resources or may have resistance to the resources. Even when campus programs exist various studies have accounted that students do not use campus resources because of social stigma, miscommunication, not considering that the food pantry was for them, and inconvenient hours (El Zein et al., 2018). In sum, accessing food pantry campus resources is associated with mental health and academic achievement of immigration-impacted students but has not been sufficient to eliminate food insecurity. The qualitative results will fill in the gaps of quantitative results and shed light on the importance of immigration-impacted students connecting to support networks to find food resources on and off campus.

Qualitative Discussion

Our qualitative study explored how immigration-impacted youth experience food insecurity in their day-to-day lives and the resources youth access to address food insecurity. The findings reveal that food insecurity is a repeated and constant experience throughout the lives of

immigration-impacted youth. This experience stems from material hardship experienced throughout their childhood. Even as the survey had unique questions about food insecurity that were framed at the individual level, our qualitative analysis reveals that students describe family-level/household experiences of food insecurity; that is, food insecurity is a shared experience within their households. Since the experience is shared among the household and throughout their lives, students minimize and normalize their food insecurity. Through their resiliency, students have created survival strategies taking them through adulthood, specifically, their college campuses. We illustrated that material hardship, specifically food insecurity, manifests similarly for undocumented Latino students and U.S. citizens with undocumented parents.

Through our analysis, we used the food insecurity pipeline to refer to the experience of food insecurity from childhood to adulthood. Food insecurity is a repeated and constant experience throughout their lives. Material hardships such as food insecurity are consequences of the structural inequities faced by immigrant families every day (Gelatt et al., 2019). Such consequences may have a detrimental impact on children's development (Gelatt et al., 2019). Chilton et al. (2009) identified how childhood health status affects health and socioeconomic status in adulthood. Campbell et al. (2022) suggest that material hardship can have adverse and long-lasting effects on the individual. Hence, why immigration-impacted youth feel indistinguishable hardships through adulthood. Furthermore, limited economic opportunities were identified as the root cause of material hardships. Similarly, research suggests that immigrant communities experience limited economic opportunities due to their status (Menjivar and Abrego, 2012). Moreover, immigration-impacted youth describe their food insecurity as a shared household experience, rather than an individual experience. Familismo, a cultural value grounded in strong family ties, may help explain why immigration-impacted youth feel a sense of shared household experience even as they are away at college (Vega, 1990). Our findings support prior research that identifies how structural inequities affect the well-being of immigrants and their families in the United States (Avery et al., 2010). Overall, we illustrated how food insecurity begins in the household, follows youth to their college campuses, and creates negative implications for their everyday lives. Future research should further examine the consequences of the food insecurity pipeline among immigration-impacted youth and identify additional systematic problems that must be dismantled.

Immigration impacted youth to normalize their food insecurity by sharing their daily experience of basic needs tradeoffs. They minimize food as a basic need and limit their food purchases to afford other living expenses. By normalizing this experience, students place themselves in danger of adapting and further internalizing food insecurity. This finding coincides with research suggesting that youth internalize the individualized bootstrapping mentality creating a need for survival and withdrawing responsibility for the system that created this environment (Lardier et al., 2019). Hence, by normalizing this experience students become unaware of the social and capital resources their privileged counterparts access to transition through higher education (Lardier et al., 2019). Placing immigration-impacted youth in isolation and with the risk of blinding them from potential resources in their environment. Additionally, this normalization may determine how students decide what basic needs and services they need (Rendón, 2002). Furthermore, the normalization of food insecurity creates a health disparity or coping mechanism known as shift and persist. Chen and Miller (2012) identify the shift as a subconscious acceptance of the uncontrollable life stressor, while the persist refers to the formation of hope for a better future. Although this coping mechanism creates endurance for this

population, it pushes youth to blame themselves for individual failures and to continuously normalize basic needs tradeoffs. Future research should develop studies regarding the intersectionality of food insecurity and American exceptionality and bootstrapping.

We find that students use a range of survival strategies to navigate their experience of food insecurity. These strategies were developed in childhood and reinforced through adulthood. Individual survival strategies are seen through hypervigilance of financial and food opportunities. Financial hypervigilance is the state of constantly assessing financial decisions to meet their hunger. Whereas food hypervigilance is the state of constantly assessing food opportunities for survival. This can be seen through forms of strict budgeting or even rationing food to offset financial demands. This finding supports prior research that identifies hypervigilance as an adaptive strategy when an individual feels unsafe and threatened (Timmerman & Volpe, 2021). Although the state of hypervigilance will allow students to adapt to their food insecurity, it will emotionally tax individuals (Timmerman & Volpe, 2021). However, as students use campus resources to brace their food insecurity, it reduces their state of hypervigilance. Our findings suggest that students use resources on campus to supplement their food needs. This finding coincides with research suggesting that resources mitigate material hardship (Campbell et al., 2022). Through our study, students identify campus resources such as pantries, gardens, cash, and gift card assistance. For UC undocumented students the development of Undocumented Student Resource Centers has brought additional resources and networks that work towards providing support to meet the needs of undocumented students and families (Tapia-Fuselier, 2021). Furthermore, youth lean on family and communal resources for added support, including their familial household, community food pantries, and federal support like CalFresh. Nevertheless, as mentioned earlier in this paper, campus resources are only a bandaid to food insecurity and do not eliminate the experience (Martinez et al., 2019; Mechler et al., 2021). Future research should explore how to change and prevent structural and social inequities that place food-insecure immigration-impacted youth in a predicament to fend for themselves by creating survival strategies.

The findings between undocumented students and U.S. citizen students with undocumented parents are very similar in many ways. The quantitative data provides evidence for the intersection of food insecurity, mental health, and academic outcomes. However, the qualitative data further illustrates how food insecurity impacts the well-being of immigration-impacted youth, including their mental and physical health. This coincides with research that establishes the negative effects of material hardship on children of immigrant households (Gelatt et al., 2019). Students mentioned it was difficult to focus on school and synthesize classroom materials when they are hungry and worried about where they will get their next meal. Our findings are aligned with existing studies where students report spending more time worrying about where to obtain their next meal and distracting them from their academic studies (Watson et al., 2017). This coincides with research that denotes that children of immigrant households who are food insecure experience higher stress levels affecting their mental health (Distel, 2019). Additionally, studies have proven that low caloric intake, lower energy levels, depressive symptoms, irregular sleeping patterns, and even suicidal ideation among food-insecure students (Watson et al., 2017; Martinez et al., 2018; Payne-Sturges et al., 2018; Goldrick-Rab et al., 2017; Pryor et al., 2016; Becerra & Becerra, 2020). Hence, why students mention an impact on their overall well-being, such as their physical and mental health. Students need food to thrive, not just food to survive. Future research should continue to assess the impact of food insecurity among college students that are part of immigrant households.

Limitations

Our study has several limitations. First, the college student sample is representative of students in the UC system and thus is not reflective of students in other college settings such as community colleges, state or private universities, or educational institutions in other states. In 2018, reports shared that four out of five undocumented students attend community colleges (The Campaign for College Opportunity). As a majority of undocumented students begin at a community college, future research should examine experiences across community colleges to have a better representation of the relationship between immigration status, food insecurity, and health and academic outcomes. Secondly, we focused on students who self-identified as Latina, Latino, or Latinx because of the underrepresentation across other racial identities in the data. Future research should consider a more diverse sample of youth across institutions and with varying immigration backgrounds. Moreover, when attempting future studies, researchers should work with ethically trained personnel that focus on supporting immigration-impacted youth before engaging a larger and more diverse sample of students. Thirdly, the measurement of access to campus resources was limited in scope. Future research should aim to capture all types of food assistance resources, beyond food pantries. This must include the impact of federal, state, and university-based resources as our study proves that students survive because of the resources on and off their college campuses. Fourthly, we included resources in the UC setting, specifically food pantry use, as a moderator. These resources are not standardized across the UC system and food pantry access does not capture all the needs-based resources available. Despite having more undocumented students, community colleges tend to provide fewer resources for immigration-impacted communities (Teranishi et al., 2011; Suárez-Orozco et al., 2015). Finally, it is imperative to denote that our study is focused on California, a leading state that advocates advancing equity for immigrant communities. Although CA has a long road to equitable opportunities, future research should delve into the experience of immigration-impacted students in other higher-education institutions across the U.S.

Implications for Policy, Practice, and Research

Immigration-impacted students deserve to thrive and live beyond survival mode. Students in the study face structural inequities due to the immigration policy climate which prevents access to status for them or their family members. Consequently, immigration-impacted students and their families experience limited economic mobility and are prevented from accessing needed resources. While students in this study are part of a resource-rich environment and have access to many resources (i.e., therapy/counseling services, basic needs, emergency funds); immigration-impacted students continue to struggle to meet their basic needs as they experience food insecurity. We propose that educational institutions take a significant role in addressing these needs to continue reducing and eliminating the experience of food insecurity. We discuss additional recommendations at the state and federal levels to develop long-lasting progress.

At the university level, university administrators and stakeholders should first understand the experience immigration-impacted students face since childhood and how this carries impact on their lives as university students. By understanding the current conditions, they can outline possible changes that encompass all students regardless of immigration status. Institutions need to reflect on whether their administrative leaders and practices represent the students at their university campus. As multiple studies have examined, representation matters when working with marginalized communities (Llamas, 2021). This is because lived experience becomes the principal guide to understanding the urgency and developing concrete advocacy. This would

require institutions to develop committees focused on these efforts and develop strategic plans, and policy initiatives that outline the necessary programming, services, and resources food insecure immigration-impacted students require.

These changes are urgent in admission processes when planning the financial distribution of student financial aid packages. Administrative staff can be trained to examine and identify the barriers immigration-impacted students face. They can then analyze the impact of providing immigration-impacted students with an equitable financial starting point. This consideration would require an in-depth understanding of the situation of incoming students and their families. Such effort can be through an outgoing survey that captures food-insecure students at the initial stages of admission and thus offers a feasible financial aid package that fits their needs. Once students are identified, universities can develop targeted service literacy outreach campaigns. Additionally, students can be offered workshops informing them about the resources offered by the institution. Previous research has examined the importance of outreach to develop awareness and increase resource usage (Nazmi, 2018). By doing so, students will have the opportunity to engage in their education and prioritize their well-being from the early stages of their academic careers rather than worry about stretching their meals.

Institutional efforts should carry throughout students' academic careers. Especially since many students shared that they were not aware of resources until a year or two into their academic journeys. It is evident that emergency grants have served students with the flexibility to purchase foods in various locations and have healthier options. In our analysis, we also noted the support gift cards serve an entire family. Fain (2016) refers to these forms of financial support as microgrants that have supported vulnerable students. Similarly, Clark (2020) examines the impact that microgrants have on helping youth navigate and get through school. Furthermore, we found that students saw gift cards and emergency grants as useful methods of receiving financial support. As identified, students were able to purchase food for themselves and their families without any strings attached. By developing year-round microgrants, universities can provide immigration-impacted students with financial support that will help cover their food expenses. Microgrants can eliminate the additional difficulties students face in trying to access fresh foods.

On top of microgrants, universities can work with the state of California to revise its Cal Grant Programs which have contributed to a cycle of struggle. The current grant program has developed various requirements that have weaved out vulnerable communities like immigration-impacted students. For CAL Grant A, qualifying students must have a 3.0 or higher. For CAL Grant B, qualifying students must have a 2.0 or higher. Meanwhile, for CAL Grant C, there is no GPA requirement. The annual awards for each CAL grant vary across attending institutions. However, CAL Grant C is only for students that choose to attend a vocational, technical, or occupational program of at least 4 months in length. Additionally, even when GPA is not a requirement for CAL Grant C, its annual award amount is below half of what CAL Grant A provides (CSAC, 2022-2023). As such students who do not meet the GPA requirement are left with only CAL Grant C. CA can take innovative initiatives such as eliminating the GPA requirement that excludes students who have below a 2.0 GPA (CSAC, 2022-2023). As noted in our analysis, students' GPAs are associated with food insecurity. Therefore, basing eligibility on GPA does not consider the various factors that impact a student's academic achievement. Providing fewer state funds to students who have lower GPAs ignores the academic effects of being food insecure. Thus, it also contributes to the cycle of economic struggles that prevent food-insecure students from accessing rich institution environments. Changing Cal grants can be

a starting point to counteract structural racism that has limited the opportunities for immigrant communities.

Through the interviews, we also learned some of the difficulties students faced when attempting to access resources including accessibility. As such one consideration continuously proposed by scholars is the expansion of food pantry hours (El Zein et al., 2018). Through this institutional change, youth who work, have classes or must attend other responsibilities, have the flexibility of acquiring resources at various times. Moreover, as institutions create flexibility and access to resources they must continue being creative in sharing the resources. Through outreach and developing a sense of community, campuses can begin to address the stigma around accessing resources. In a study among college students at the University of Florida, 48.4% of students reported food insecurity but only 38.5% accessed resources to address their challenges such as pantries (El Zein et al., 2018). In comparison, we found that 59.7% of immigration-impacted youth are food insecure and 59.8% of immigration-impacted youth have accessed campus resources (campus food pantry). These descriptives make it clear that immigration-impacted students are accessing campus resources yet continue to experience food insecurity. Therefore, prioritizing outreach and a sense of belonging on campus will attempt to reduce the stigma associated with accessing resources on campus.

Various studies have recognized the impact of federal and state assistance programs. Hoynes et al. (2016) examine how the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) and the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) reduce food insecurity. Meanwhile, others believe assistance programs lack sufficient power to reduce food insecurity (Hines, 2021). Hines proposes an expansion of federal food assistance programs by expanding eligibility and removing requirements that weave out vulnerable communities. Similarly, to Hines's recommendation, other scholars have proposed a similar approach to state programs. Phillips (2018) proposes that eliminating requirements for state programs like CalFresh could be a stepping stone to increasing food security. University institutions could contribute to these efforts as a catalyst by pushing the state to rethink its requirements. Universities' roles are highly important in federal and state program expansion, especially since previous research outlines efficiency in creating access to resources from effective communication efforts (El Zein et al., 2018). Nazmi (2018) denotes that universities' efforts to increase student awareness through CalFresh outreach could help reduce food insecurity as well. Nonetheless, the state of CA could be a leader in reducing this barrier for immigration-impacted families through the SB-464, Food4All bill. SB-464 proposes to achieve food access for undocumented older adults 55 years and older. CFAP would function as an alternative program to CalFresh for those who are undocumented. However, there are still immense limitations with this bill since it does not include immigration-impacted youth (18-25) as they are at high risk for food insecurity. CA can make food accessible to everyone at faster rates by rethinking the current Food For All bill and making CFAP requirements accessible regardless of immigration status or

California has made tremendous progress toward supporting the inclusion of immigrant communities. Even with such strides 20.3% of the state is experiencing food insecurity (Schanzenbach et al., 2020). Among Latinx, 27.3% are considered food insecure in CA (Schanzenbach et al., 2020). This means that the state cannot alone eliminate food insecurity. Congress must be educated on the consequences of the food insecurity pipeline. Immigration reform would provide increased economic opportunities to combat material hardship for both undocumented students and U.S. citizen students with undocumented parents. By addressing

material hardship at the root, and advocating for immigrant households their U.S. citizen children will have successful strives academically and mentally throughout their lives.

Furthermore, food insecurity research should attempt to analyze the impact of food insecurity among a much larger immigrant-impacted youth sample. Future studies should prioritize one variable at a time such as mental health or academic outcomes to fully diagnose interventions for buffering food insecurity among immigrant communities. Secondly, research should analyze mixed-status families, specifically, the food insecurity pipeline for U.S. citizen children with undocumented parents as this population is oftentimes forgotten but may be easier to access than undocumented households. Third, food insecurity research should further expand on food insecurity variance by race and ethnicity. Race and ethnicity may be a factor in the implications of material hardship. Fourth, food insecurity research should take an in-depth approach to how food insecurity is measured provided that it may lead to a more comprehensive understanding of unique factors at the core of the food insecure experience.

The current study offers a glimpse into the long-term experience of food insecurity. Longitudinal studies with immigration-impacted families are needed to better understand how food insecurity and other immigration consequences are experienced by the community and the implications for their health and well-being. Since our quantitative study shows that food insecurity cannot be fully understood at one point in time. Rather, the quantitative simply proves that food insecurity is real. Furthermore, food insecurity does impact negative mental health outcomes and has consequences of reducing students' grades. Whereas the qualitative paints a full picture of the food insecurity experience in the day-to-day lives of immigration-impacted youth. Providing further evidence that food insecurity is not a brief experience but rather a constant and repeated reality for immigration-impacted youth. Additionally, providing evidence that material hardship has followed youth throughout their lives. Therefore, the issue is in legislation that tackles material hardship. Also, research and legislation take a comprehensive look at how food insecurity is measured and assessed among university, state, and federal decisions.

Conclusion

Immigration-impacted students should have the opportunity to focus on their future without having to stretch or worry about their next meal. As these students are key to our future workforce and deserve to be supported. As college access widens, the opportunities to flourish within it should match. These opportunities can begin through university initiatives, state leadership, and federal actions. Leaders can recreate the future of students who often have been forced to navigate spaces with ongoing episodes of food insecurity. Through these possible recommendations and policy changes, students who have been left to fight a generational food insecurity battle finally have a fair opportunity to thrive.

References

- Altman, C. E., Heflin, C. M., Jun, C., & Bachmeier, J. D. (2020). Material hardship among immigrants in the United States: Variation by citizenship, legal status, and origin in the 1996–2008 sipp. *Population Research and Policy Review*, 40(3), 363–399. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11113-020-09588-6
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed.). Arlington: American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Amuedo-Dorantes, C., & Antman, F. (2016). Schooling and labor market effects of temporary authorization: Evidence from DACA. *Journal of Population Economics*, *30*(1), 339–373. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00148-016-0606-z
- Anderson, S. A. (1990). Core indicators of nutritional state for difficult-to-sample populations.

 The Journal of Nutrition, 120(11), 1555–1598.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/120.suppl_11.1555
- Avery, D., Tonidandel, S., Volpone, S., Raghuram, A., & Dietz, J. (2010). Overworked in America? How work hours, immigrant status, and interpersonal justice affect perceived work overload? *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 25(2), 133–147. https://doi.org/10.1108/02683941011019348
- Ayón, C. (2016). Talking to Latino children about race, inequality, and discrimination: Raising families in an anti-immigrant political environment. *Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research*, 7(3), 449–477. https://doi.org/10.1086/686929
- Ayón, C., Ellis, B. D., Hagan, M. J., Enriquez, L. E., & Offidani-Bertrand, C. (2022). Mental health help-seeking among latina/o/X undocumented college students. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1037/cdp0000573

- Banerjee, S., Radak, T., Khubchandani, J., & Dunn, P. (2021). Food Insecurity and Mortality in American Adults: Results From the NHANES-Linked Mortality Study. *Health promotion practice*, 22(2), 204–214. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839920945927
- Barofsky, J., Vargas, A., Rodriguez, D., & Barrows, A. (2020). Spreading fear: The announcement of the public charge rule reduced enrollment in child safety-net programs. *Health Affairs*, *39*(10), 1752–1761. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.00763 a. (2019). Fear and Confusion Among Immigrant Students. *Inside Higher Ed*.
- Becerra, M.B., & Becerra, B.K. (2020). "Psychological Distress among College Students: Role of Food Insecurity and Other Social Determinants of Mental Health." *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(11): 4118. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17114118
- Bellair, P. E., McNulty, T. L., Roscigno, V. J., & Lei, M. K. (2019). Childhood material hardship and externalizing behavior. *Justice Quarterly*, *38*(3), 454–478. https://doi.org/10.1080/07418825.2019.1584326
- Bernhardt, A., Spiller, M.W., and Polson, D. (2013). "All Work and No Pay: Violations of Employed and Labor Laws in Chicago, Los Angeles, and New York City." Social Forces 91(3):725–746
- Bernstein, H., Gonzalez, D., Karpman, M., & Zuckerman, S. (2020). *Amid Confusion over the Public Charge Rule, Immigrant Families Continued Avoiding Public Benefits in 2019*.

 Urban Institute.
 - https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/102221/amid-confusion-over-the-public-charge-rule-immigrant-families-continued-avoiding-public-benefits-in-2019_1.pdf

- Broton, K. M., & Goldrick-Rab, S. (2017). Going without: An exploration of food and housing insecurity among undergraduates. *Educational Researcher*, 47(2), 121–133. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x17741303
- Cady, C. L. (2014). Food insecurity as a student issue. *Journal of College and Character*, *15*(4). https://doi.org/10.1515/jcc-2014-0031
- Camelo, K., & Elliott, M. (2019). Food Insecurity and Academic Achievement Among College Students at a Public University in the United States. Journal of College Student Development 60(3), 307-318. doi:10.1353/csd.2019.0028.
- Campbell, C., O'Brien, G., & Tumin D., (2022). Timing and Persistence of Material Hardship Among Children in the United States. *Matern Child Health J*, 26(7):1529-1539. doi: 10.1007/s10995-022-03448-9.
- Charmaz, K. (2006). Constructing Grounded Theory: A Practical Guide through Qualitative Analysis. London: Sage Publications.
- Chen, E., & Miller, G.E. (2012). "Shift-and-persist" strategies: why low socioeconomic status isn't always bad for health. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 7(2), 135–158. 10.1177/1745691612436694.
- Chilton, M., Black, M., Berkowitz, C., Casey, P.H., Cook, J., Cutts, J., Jacobs, R.R., Heeran, T., & Frank, D. A. (2009). Food Insecurity and Risk of Poor Health Among US-Born Children of Immigrants. *American Journal of Public Health*. (99), Pp. 556 562. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2008.144394
- Clark, Ashley. (2020, January). What Works for Today's Students Microgrants by Higher Learning Advocates.
 - https://tacc.org/sites/default/files/documents/2020-02/microgrants-policy-brief.pdf

- Coleman-Jensen, A., Rabbitt, M.P., Gregory, C.A., & Singh, A. (2022, September). *Household Food Security in the United States in 2021*, ERR-309, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service.
- Cook, J. T., & Frank, D. A. (2008). Food security, poverty, and human development in the United States. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1136*(1), 193–209. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1425.001
- Craig O., February 2023. *Top universities in California*. Top Universities.

 https://www.topuniversities.com/where-to-study/north-america/united-states/top-universities-california
- CSAC California Student Aid Commission. (2022-2023). 2022-2023 Cal Grant Programs.

 https://www.csac.ca.gov/sites/main/files/file-attachments/g-30_2022_cal_grant_comparis

 on.pdf?1661875089
- Deloitte, Datawheel, & Hidalgo, C. (2020). DATA USA: CALIFORNIA. Data USA. Retrieved

 March 21, 2023, from

 https://datausa.io/profile/geo/california?sexAgeRacePoverty=raceOption
- Delva, J., Horner, P., Martinez, R., Sanders, L., Lopez, W. D., & Doering-White, J. (2013).

 MENTAL HEALTH PROBLEMS OF CHILDREN OF UNDOCUMENTED PARENTS

 IN THE UNITED STATES: A HIDDEN CRISIS. *Journal of Community Positive*Practices, 13(3), 25-35. Retrieved from

 https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/mental-health-problems-children-undocume

 nted/docview/1477427147/se-2

- Ding, M., Keiley, M. K., Garza, K. B., Duffy, P. A., & Zizza, C. A. (2015). Food insecurity is associated with poor sleep outcomes among US adults. *The Journal of nutrition*, *145*(3), 615–621. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.114.199919
- Distel, L. M. L., Egbert, A. H., Bohnert, A. M., & Santiago, C. D. (2019). Chronic stress and food insecurity: Examining key environmental family factors related to body mass index among low-income Mexican-origin youth. *Family & Community Health: The Journal of Health Promotion & Maintenance*, 42(3), 213–220.

 https://doi.org/10.1097/FCH.0000000000000228
- Dubick, J., Mathews, B., & Cady, C. L. (2016). *Hunger on campus: The challenge of food insecurity for college students*. Retrieved from https://studentsagainsthunger.org/hunger-on-campus/
- Duran, A., & Núñez, A.-M. (2020). Food and housing insecurity for Latinx/A/O college students: Advancing an intersectional research agenda. *Journal of Hispanic Higher Education*, 20(2), 134–148. https://doi.org/10.1177/1538192720963579
- El Zein, A., Mathews, A., House, L., & Shelnutt, K. (2018). Why are hungry college students not seeking help? predictors of and barriers to using an on-campus food pantry. *Nutrients*, *10*(9), 1163. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10091163
- Enriquez, L. E. (2015). Multigenerational punishment: Shared experiences of undocumented immigration status within mixed-status families. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 77(4), 939–953. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12196
- Enriquez, L., Ayon, C., Chavarria, K., Ellis, B., Hagan, M. J., Jefferies, J., Lara, J., Morales

 Hernadez, M., Murillo, E., Najera, J., Offidani-Bertrand, C., Oropeza Fujimoto, M., Ro,

 A., Rodriguez, V. E., Rosales, W., Sarabia, H., Soltero Lopez, A. K., Valadez, M., Valarde

- Pierce, S., & Valdez, Z. (2020, December). Persisting Inequalities and Paths Forward. https://cpb-us-e2.wpmucdn.com/sites.uci.edu/dist/4/3807/files/2020/12/State_Of_Undocumented Students 2020report.pdf?courseID=113805&assignmentID=1222410
- Eskenazi, B., Fahey, C.A., Kogut, K., et al., (2019). Association of perceived immigration policy vulnerability with mental and physical health among US-Born Latino adolescents in California. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 173(8), 744-753. Doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2019.1475
- Fain, P. (2016). Small Grants, Big Impact. Inside Higher Ed.
 - https://www.immagic.com/eLibrary/ARCHIVES/GENERAL/GENPRESS/I160222F.pd
- Fix, M., & Zimmermann, W. (2001). All under one roof: Mixed-status families in an era of reform. *International Migration Review*, 35(2), 397–419. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-7379.2001.tb00023.x
- Gelatt, J., Koball, H., & Bernstein, H. (2019). State Immigration Enforcement Policies and Material Hardship for Immigrant Families. *Child Welfare*, *96*(5), 1–28. https://www.jstor.org/stable/48626718
- Goldrick-Rab, S., Richardson, J., & Hernandez, A. (2017). (rep.). Hungry and Homeless in College: Results From a National Study of Basic Needs Insecurity In Higher Education.
- Guelespe, D., Gonzalez, D., & Echave, P. (2023, February 6). Mixed-status immigrant families disproportionately experienced material hardships in 2021. *Urban Institute*. https://www.urban.org/research/publication/mixed-status-immigrant-families-disproportionately-experienced-material
- Gundersen, C., Kreider, B., & Pepper, J. (2011). The economics of food insecurity in the United States. *Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy*, *33*(3), 281–303. https://doi.org/10.1093/aepp/ppr022

- Guzman, G., 2020. Household Income by Race and Hispanic Origin: 2005–2009 and 2015–2019, American Community Survey Briefs, ACSBR-007, U.S. Census Bureau, Washington, DC.
- Hall, M., Greenman, E., & Farkas, G. (2010). Legal status and wage disparities for Mexican immigrants. *Social Forces*, 89(2), 491–513. https://doi.org/10.1353/sof.2010.0082
- Health4All bill. California Immigrant Policy Center. (2023, March 20). Retrieved May 6, 2023, from https://caimmigrant.org/what-we-do/policy/health-public-benefits/health4all-bill/
- Hines, C. T., Markowitz, A. J., & Johnson, A. D. (2021). Food Insecurity: What Are Its Effects, Why, and What Can Policy Do About It? *Policy Insights from the Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 8(2), 127–135. https://doi.org/10.1177/23727322211032250
- Hoynes, H., Schanzenbach, D. W., & Almond, D. (2016). Long-run impacts of childhood access to the safety net. American Economic Review, 106, 903–934.
- Huang, J., Oshima, K. M., & Kim, Y. (2010). Does food insecurity affect parental characteristics and child behavior? Testing mediation effects. *The Social service review*, 84(3), 381–401. https://doi.org/10.1086/655821
- Iceland, J., & Bauman, K. J. (2007). Income poverty and material hardship: How strong is the Association? *The Journal of Socio-Economics*, *36*(3), 376–396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socec.2006.12.003
- Kroenke, K., Spitzer, R. L., & Williams, J. B. (2001). The PHQ-9. Journal of General Internal Medicine, 16(9). https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.
- Kuka, E., Shenhav, N., & Shih, K. (2020). Do human capital decisions respond to the returns to education? evidence from DACA. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, *12*(1), 293–324. https://doi.org/10.1257/pol.20180352

- Laraia, B. A., Borja, J. B., & Bentley, M. E. (2009). Grandmothers, fathers, and depressive symptoms are associated with food insecurity among low-income first-time

 African-American mothers in North Carolina. *Journal of the American Dietetic*Association, 109(6), 1042–1047. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.2009.03.005
- Lardier, D. T., Herr, K. G., Barrios, V. R., Garcia-Reid, P., & Reid, R. J. (2019). Merit in Meritocracy: Uncovering the Myth of Exceptionality and Self-Reliance Through the Voices of Urban Youth of Color. *Education and Urban Society*, 51(4), 474–500. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124517727583
- Legislative Analyst's Office. (2023). (rep.). The *University of California*. https://lao.ca.gov/Publications/Report/4684
- Legislative Analyst's Office. (2019). (rep.). Student Food and Housing Insecurity at the University of California.
- https://lao.ca.gov/Publications/Report/4014?utm_source=t.co&utm_medium=referral&utm_cam paign=4014
- Leitz, Destiny. (2018). Identifying the Risk Factor for Food Insecurity in the United States.

 *Major Themes in Economics, 20(1), 49-71.

 https://scholarworks.uni.edu/mtie/vol20/iss1/4/
- Llamas, J., Nguyen, k., & Tran, A., (2021). The case for greater faculty diversity: examining the educational impacts of student-faculty racial/ethnic match. *Race Ethnicity and Education*. 24:3, 375-391. DOI 10.1080/13613324.2019.1679759
- Marmolejo, C., Banta, J. E., Siapco, G., & Baba Djara, M. (2022). Examining the Association of Student Mental Health and food security with College GPA. *Journal of American College Health*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2022.2058327

- Martinez SM, Esaryk EE, Moffat L, Ritchie L. (2021). Redefining Basic Needs for Higher Education: It's More Than Minimal Food and Housing According to California University Students. *American Journal of Health Promotion*. 35(6):818-834. doi:10.1177/0890117121992295
- Martinez SM, Frongillo EA, Leung C, Ritchie L. (2018). No food for thought: Food insecurity is related to poor mental health and lower academic performance among students in California's public university system. J *Health Psychol.* (12):1930-1939. doi: 10.1177/1359105318783028.
- Martinez,S.M., Karen Webb, Edward A. Frongillo & Lorrene D. Ritchie (2018) Food insecurity in California's public university system: What are the risk factors? *Journal of Hunger & Environmental Nutrition*, 13:1, 1-18, DOI: 10.1080/19320248.2017.1374901
- Massey, D. S., & Gentsch, K. (2018). Undocumented migration to the United States and the wages of Mexican immigrants. *International Migration Review*, 48(2), 482–499. https://doi.org/10.1111/imre.1206Menjívar, C., & Abrego, L. (2012). Legal Violence: Immigration Law and the Lives of Central American Immigrants. *American Journal of Sociology*, 117(5), 1380–1421. https://doi.org/10.1086/663575
- Mechler H, Coakley K, Walsh-Dilley M, Cargas S. (2021). Examining the Relationship Between Food Insecurity and Academic Performance: Implications for Diversity and Equity in Higher Education. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice.0(0).* DOI:10.1177/15210251211053863
- Mendoza, H., Masuda, A. & Swartout, K.M. (2015). Mental Health Stigma and Self-Concealment as Predictors of Help-Seeking Attitudes among Latina/o College

- Students in the United States. *Int J Adv Counselling* 37, 207–222. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10447-015-9237-4
- Miller, D. P., John, R. S., Yao, M., & Morris, M. (2022). The 2016 presidential election, the public charge rule, and Food and nutrition assistance among immigrant households.
 American Journal of Public Health, 112(12), 1738–1746.
 https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2022.307011
- Museus, S. D., Ledesma, M. C., & Parker, T. L. (2015a). Racism and racial equity in Higher Education. *ASHE Higher Education Report*, 42(1), 1–112. https://doi.org/10.1002/aehe.20067
- Nazmi, A., Suzanna Martinez, Ajani Byrd, Derrick Robinson, Stephanie Bianco, Jennifer Maguire, Rashida M. Crutchfield, Kelly Condron & Lorrene Ritchie. (2019). A systematic review of food insecurity among US students in higher education. *Journal of Hunger & Environmental Nutrition*, 14:5, 725-740, DOI: 10.1080/19320248.2018.1484316
- Nourish California & California Immigrant Policy Center. (2022, April). Food insecurity among undocumented immigrants in California & exclusion ...

 https://nourishca.org/get-involved/state-legislative-advocacy/food4all/. Retrieved April 19, 2023, from

 https://nourishca.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/Food4All-FoodInsecurityBrief-April20 22.pdf
- Oliverez, P. M., and W. G. Tierney. 2005. Show Us the Money: Low-Income Students, Families, and Financial Aid. Los Angeles: Center for Higher Education Policy Analysis

- Patrick, L. (2023). *Hurtado reintroduces Food for all acts to feed undocumented immigrants*.

 The Sun-Gazette Newspaper.

 https://thesungazette.com/article/news/2023/01/31/hurtado-reintroduces-food-for-all-act-t-o-feed-undocumented-immigrants/
- Payne-Sturges DC, Tjaden A, Caldeira KM, Vincent KB, Arria AM. (2018). Student Hunger on
 Campus: Food Insecurity Among College Students and Implications for Academic
 Institutions. Am J Health Promot, 32(2):349-354. doi: 10.1177/0890117117719620.
- Pena, Anita Alves. (2010). "Poverty, Legal Status, and Pay Basis: The Case of U.S. Agriculture." Industrial Relations 49(3): 429–456.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-232X.2010.00608.x
- Perreira, K. M., & Pedroza, J. M. (2019). Policies of exclusion: Implications for the health of immigrants and their children. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 40(1), 147–166. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040218-044115
- Perreira, K. M., Yoshikawa, H., & Oberlander, J. (2018). A new threat to immigrants' health—
 the public-charge rule. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *379*(10), 901–903.
 https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmp1808020
- Phillips, E., McDaniel, A., & Croft, A. (2018). Food insecurity and academic disruption among college students. *Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice*, 55(4), 353–372.DOI: 10.1080/19496591.2018.1470003
- Pineau, C., Williams, P. L., Brady, J., Waddington, M., & Frank, L. (2021). Exploring experiences of food insecurity, stigma, social exclusion, and shame among women in high-income countries: A narrative review. *Canadian Food Studies / La Revue*

- Canadienne Des Études Sur l'alimentation, 8(3). https://doi.org/10.15353/cfs-rcea.v8i3.473
- Policy basics: The Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP). Center on Budget and Policy Priorities. (n.d.).

 https://www.cbpp.org/research/food-assistance/the-supplemental-nutrition-assistance-program-snap
- Pope, N. G. (2016). The effects of dacamentation: The impact of deferred action for childhood arrivals on unauthorized immigrants. *Journal of Public Economics*, *143*, 98–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2016.08.014
- Pryor, L., Lioret, S., Van Der, Waerden J., Fombonne, É., Falissard, B., & Melchior, M. (2016).

 Food insecurity and mental health problems among a community sample of young adults.

 Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol, 51(8):1073-81. doi: 10.1007/s00127-016-1249-9.
- Ramakrishnan, K., & Colbern, A. (2015). The California Package: Immigrant Integration and the Evolving Nature of State Citizenship. *Policy Matters*, *6*(3), 1–20.
- Reaven G. M. (1998). Hypothesis: muscle insulin resistance is the ("not-so") thrifty genotype. *Diabetologia*, 41(4), 482–484. https://doi.org/10.1007/s001250050933
- Rendón L. I. (2002). Community college Puente: A validating model of education. *Educational Policy*, 16, 642–667. https://doi.org/10.1177/0895904802016004010
- Richards, H. J., Benson, V., Donnelly, N., & Hadwin, J. A. (2014). Exploring the function of selective attention and hypervigilance for threat in anxiety. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 34, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2013.10.006.

- Roche, K., Vaquera E., White R., Rivera M., (2018). Impacts of immigration actions and News and the Psychological Distress of U.S. Latino parents raising adolescents. Journal of Adolescent Health. DOI: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2018.01.004.
- Schanzenbach, D. W., & N. Tomeh. (2020, July). State Levels of Food Insecurity During the COVID-19 Crisis. Institute for Policy Research Rapid Research Report

 https://www.ipr.northwestern.edu/documents/reports/ipr-rapid-research-reports-app-visualizesfood-insecurity-14-july-2020.pdf.
- Seligman, H. K., Laraia, B. A., & Kushel, M. B. (2010). Food insecurity is associated with chronic disease among low-income NHANES participants, . *The Journal of Nutrition*, 140(2), 304–310. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.109.112573
- Suárez-Orozco, C., Katsiaficas, D., Birchall, O., Alcantar, C. M., Hernandez, E., Garcia, Y., & Teranishi, R. T. (2015). Undocumented Undergraduates on College Campuses:
 Understanding Their Challenges, Assets, and What It Takes to Make an Undocufriendly Campus. *Harvard Education Review*, 85(3), 427-463.
 https://doi.org/10.17763/0017-8055.85.3.427
- Sun, Y., Liu, B., Rong, S., Du, Y., Xu, G., Snetselaar, L. G., Wallace, R. B., & Bao, W. (2020).

 Food Insecurity Is Associated With Cardiovascular and All-Cause Mortality Among

 Adults in the United States. Journal of the American Heart Association, 9(19), e014629.

 https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.119.014629
- Tapia-Fuselier, Nicholas. (2021). Enhancing Institutional Undocu-Competence through

 Establishing Undocumented Student Resource Centers: A Student-Encompassed

 Approach. *Journal of College Access*, 6(2):10.

- Teranishi, R. T., Suárez-Orozco, C., & Suárez-Orozco, M. (2011). Immigrants in Community Colleges. *The Future of Children*, *21*(1), 153–169. http://www.jstor.org/stable/41229015
- The Campaign for College Opportunity. (2018). Higher Education Affordability for

 Undocumented Students in California. Retrieved from Los Angeles, CA:

 https://collegecampaign.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/CCO_Undoc.pdf
- Timmerman, J. R., & V. Volpe. (2023). Aspects of campus climate and mental health threats: The role of hypervigilance. *Journal of American College Health*, 71:3, 695-704, DOI: 10.1080/07448481.2021.1904954
- UC Berkeley. (2022, October 20). *What is Daca?*. UNDOCUMENTED STUDENT PROGRAM. https://undocu.berkeley.edu/legal-support-overview/what-is-daca/
- UC Office of the President. 2007. (https://www.ucop.edu/acadinit/mastplan/mpsummary.htm).
- University of California, Office of the President. (2020, November). *Regents of the University of California*. regents.universityofcalifornia.edu. Retrieved March 2023, from https://regents.universityofcalifornia.edu/regmeet/nov20/s1attach.pdf
- USDA Economic Research Service. (2012). U.S. household food security survey module: Six-item short form
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (n.d.-a). Food Accessibility, insecurity and health outcomes. National Institute of Minority Health and Health Disparities.

 https://www.nimhd.nih.gov/resources/understanding-health-disparities/food-accessibility-insecurity-and-health-outcomes.html#:~:text=Food%20insecurity%20and%20the%20lack,disorders%20and%20other%20chronic%20diseases%20.
- Valadez, M., Ayón, C., Enriquez, L. E., & Jefferies, J. (2021). Legal vulnerability and campus environment: Assessing factors that affect the academic engagement of Undocumented

- College Students. *Journal of Latinos and Education*, *20*(3), 276–289. https://doi.org/10.1080/15348431.2021.1949988
- Vargas, E. D., & Pirog, M. A. (2016). Mixed-status families and WIC uptake: The effects of risk of deportation on program use*. *Social Science Quarterly*, 97(3), 555–572. https://doi.org/10.1111/ssqu.12286
- Vargas, E. D., & Ybarra, V. D. (2017). U.S. citizen children of undocumented parents: The link between state immigration policy and the health of Latino Children. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 19(4), 913–920. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-016-0463-6
- van Woerden, I., Hruschka, D., & Bruening, M. (2018). Food insecurity negatively impacts academic performance. *Journal of Public Affairs*, 19(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.1864
- Vega, W. A. (1990). Hispanic families in the 1980s:A decade of research. *Journal of Marriage* and the Family, 52,1015-1024.
- Velarde Pierce, S., Haro, A. Y., Ayón, C., & Enriquez, L. E. (2021). Evaluating the effect of legal vulnerabilities and social support on the mental health of undocumented college students.

 Journal of Latinos and Education, 20(3), 246–259.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15348431.2021.1949990
- Watson T, Malan H, Glik D, Martinez S. (2017). College students identify university support for basic needs and life skills as key ingredients in addressing food insecurity on campus.

 Calif Agr 71(3):130-138. https://doi.org/10.3733/ca.2017a0023.
- Weaver, R.R., Vaguhn, N.A., Hendricks, S.P., McPherson-Myers, P.E., Jia, Q., Willis, S.L., & Rescigno, K.P. (2020) University student food insecurity and academic performance,

Journal of American College Health, 68:7, 727-733, DOI:

10.1080/07448481.2019.1600522

What's the Difference Between Hunger and the Effects of Food Insecurity? Red Nose Day . (2020, October 28).

https://rednoseday.org/news/difference-between-hunger-and-effects-of-food-insecurity

World Health Organization. (2022, June). *Mental health*. World Health Organization; Mental Health. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-strengthening-ou
https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-strengthening-ou
https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-strengthening-ou

Appendices

Tables 1- 4
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1dancYkT4aEynPRtdeTgYTqmN2vxgytXvrXrmTu_wacE/edit?usp=sharing

<u>Table 1. Participant demographics (N = 1861)</u>

		Undocumented Students	Mixed-Status Families	Legal Student Families	Total Sample
Gender		N= 592 (31.8%)	N= 634 (34.1%)	N= 635 (34.1%)	N= 1861 (100%)
Genuel	Female	441 (74.6%)	514 (81.2%)	482 (76.1%)	N= 1437 (77.4%)
Year	Queer/Non-Bin ary	15 (2.5%)	7 (1.1%)	15 (2.4%)	N= 37 (2%)
	1st	105 (17.7%)	164 (25.9%)	140 (22.1%)	N= 409 (22%)
	2nd	96 (16.2%)	127 (20%)	113 (17.8%)	N= 336 (18.1%)
	3rd	182 (30.7%)	167 (26.3%)	175 (27.6%)	N= 524 (28.2%)
	4th	167 (28.2%)	143 (22.6%)	175 (27.6%)	N= 485 (26.1%)
	5th or higher	40 (6.8%)	29 (4.6%)	28 (4.4%)	N= 97 (5.2%)
Campus	UCRiverside	108 (18.2%)	114 (18%)	131 (20.6%)	N= 353 (19%)
	UCIrvine	121 (20.4%)	115 (18.1%)	69 (10.9)	N= 305 (16.4%)
	UCLos Angeles	75 (12.7%)	76 (12%)	78 (12.3%)	N= 229 (12.3%)
		24 (CD)	17 (CD)	15 (CD)	N. (CD)
A		Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)
Age		21.13 (2.783)	20.21 (1.800)	20.62 (2.357)	20.64 (2.366)
Sense of belong		3.5700 (0.81772)	3.4645 (0.84926)	3.5116 (0.89414)	3.5141 (0.85562)
Family Economic		0.70 (0.458)	0.66 (0.475)	0.45 (0.498)	1.0784 (1.08220)

Hardship

<u>Table 2. Descriptive: Predictors, Moderator, and Outcome Variables</u>

		Undocumented Student Families	Mixed-Status Families	Legal Student Families	Total
		N= 592 (31.8%)	N= 634 (34.1%)	N= 635 (34.1%)	N= 1861 (100%)
Food Insecurity					
	Food insecure	359 (74.6%)	379 (60%)	364 (57.9%)	N= 1102 (59.7%)
	Food secure	226 (38.6%)	253 (39.9%)	265 (42.1%)	N= 744 (40.3%)
Campus Resources-Food Pantry/Basic Needs					
	Accessed	395 (66.9%)	384 (60.9%)	331 (52.3%)	N= 1110 (59.8%)
	Didn't access	195 (33.1%)	250 (39.4%)	302 (47.7%)	N= 747 (40.2%)
		Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	
PhQ		10.52 (6.589)	10.62 (6.606)	9.78 (6.253)	
GAD		9.25 (5.926)	9.27 (5.940)	8.66 (5.752)	
GPA		12.89 (1.998)	12.90 (2.035)	13.34 (1.959)	

Table 3. Regression Analysis w/ interaction variables

_	PHQ		arysis w/ interac		GAD			
	Model 1:		Model 2:		Model 1:		Model 2	
	B(S.E)	β	B(S.E)	β	B(S.E)	β	B(S.E)	β
Age	048(.061)	-0.017	068(.061)	-0.024	.039(.055)	0.016	.026(.056)	0.01
Women 1	1.505(.354	0.097***	1.439(.347)	.093***	2.333(.320)	.166***	2.302(.317	.164***
Non-Binary 2	3.832(1.05	0.083***	3.804(1.032)	.083***	3.750(.957)	.090***	3.728(.946	.089***
Sense of Belonging	-1.657(.16 7)	-0.219**	-1.461(.164)	193***	-1.142(.151	167***	-1.003(.15 0)	147***
Economic Family Scale 4	1.669(.133	.279***	1.301(.141)	.217***	1.500(.121)	.276***	1.246(.129	.229***
Undocument ed			.202(.351)	0.014			.066(.321)	0.005
Mixed			.215(.343)	0.016			.027(.314)	0.002
Food insecurity 5			2.885(.310)	.218***			2.095(.284	.175***
Frequency: Basic Needs / Food Pantry			808(.300)	061**			642(.274)	053*
R2		0.156		0.196		.149***		0.175***
R2 Change		0.156*		0.040*		.149***		0.026***
		65.085		21.78		62.024		13.82

Table #4. Regression Analysis w/ interaction variables

	GPA			
	Model 1:		Model 2:	
	B(S.E)	β	B(S.E)	β
Age	.039(0.02)	0.046	.041(.02)	0.048*
Women 1	007(.118)	-0.001	.001(.117)	0
Non-Binary 2	052(.358)	-0.004	107(.056)	-0.007
Sense of Belonging	.103(.056)	0.044	.072(.056)	0.03
Economic Family Scale 4	123(.044)	-0.066	026(.048)	-0.014
Undocumented			471(.118)	-0.109***
Mixed			416(.116)	-0.098***
Food insecurity 5			550(.105)	-0.134***
Frequency: Basic Needs / Food Pantry			.237(.101)	.058***
R2		0.008		0.033
R2 Change		0.008		0.025
F		2.965**		11.356